Impact of School Desegregation in Milwaukee Public Schools on Quality Education for Minorities..... 15 Years Later

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights

August 1992

A report of the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights prepared for the information and consideration of the Commission. This report will be considered by the Commission and the Commission will make public its reaction. In the meanwhile, the findings and recommendations of this report should not be attributed to the Commission but only to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee.



The United States Commission on Civil Rights

The United States Commission on Civil Rights, first created by the Civil Rights Act of 1957, and recatablished by the United States Commission on Civil Rights Act of 1983, is an independent, bipartisan agency of the Federal Government. By the terms of the 1983 act, the Commission is charged with the following duties pertaining to discrimination or denials of the equal protection of the laws based on race, color, religion, sex, age, handicap, or national origin, or in the administration of justice: investigation of individual discriminatory denials of the right to vote; study of legal developments with respect to discrimination or denials of the laws and policies of the United States with respect to discrimination or denials of equal protection of the law; maintenance of a national clearinghouse for information respecting discrimination or denials of equal protection of the law; and investigation of patterns or practices of fraud or discrimination in the conduct of Federal elections. The Commission is also required to submit reports to the President and the Congress at such times as the Commission, the Congress, or the President shall deem desirable.

The State Advisory Committees

An Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights has been established in each of the 50 States and the District of Columbia pursuant to section 105(c) of the Civil Rights Act of 1957 and section 6(c) of the United States Commission on Civil Rights Act of 1983. The Advisory Committees are made up of responsible persons who serve without compensation. Their functions under their mandate from the Commission are to: advise the Commission of all relevant information concerning their respective States on matters within the jurisdiction of the Commission; advise the Commission on matters of mutual concern in the preparation of reports of the Commission to the President and the Congress; receive reports, suggestions, and recommendations from individuals, public and private organizations, and public officials upon matters pertinent to inquiries conducted by the State Advisory Committee; initiate and forward advice and recommendations to the Commission upon matters in which the Commission shall request the assistance of the State Advisory Committee; and attend, as observeers, any open hearing or conference that the Commission may hold within the State.

Impact of School Desegregation in Milwaukee Public Schools on Quality Education for Minorities..... 15 Years Later

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights

August 1992

A report of the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights prepared for the information and consideration of the Commission. This report will be considered by the Commission and the Commission will make public its reaction. In the meanwhile, the findings and recommendations of this report should not be attributed to the Commission but only to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee.

Letter of Transmittal

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights

Members of the Commission Arthur A. Fletcher, Chairman Charles Pei Wang, Vice Chairman William B, Allen Carl A. Anderson Mary Frances Berry Esther G. Buckley Blandina Cardenas Ramirez Russell G. Redenbaugh

Wilfredo J. Gonzalez, Staff Director

The Wisconsin Advisory Committee submits this report of its review of Milwankee school desegregation and its impact upon quality education for minorities. The Advisory Committee voted to to approve submission of this report to you.

The Advisory Committee held a community forum on May 22-23, 1990, to gather information on efforts to desegregate the Milwaukee Public Schools (MPS) and the impact of these efforts upon quality education. Twenty-three persons appeared before the Committee to provide information and points of view related to this issue. Those invited to participate included educators from MPS, suburban school districts, State officials, elected officials, community and business groups, students and parents. Those persons who participated in the forum were given an opportunity to comment on relevant sections of the report. Where appropriate, comments and corrections indicated by them have been incorporated into the final report.

The education of minority students has emerged as the overriding concern in public education, and it may top the national education agenda well into the next century. Similarly, it is a top priority in the city of Milwaukee where racial minority students have become the majority population, and school desegregation the force driving the operations of the schools. Since 1976 MPS has been struggling and to some degree progressing in its many efforts to desegregate the schools. Although there has been some progress, the educational outcomes for minority students that were hoped for have been unsatisfactory and, according to some, a complete failure. Fifteen years later, MPS is still grappling with how to deal with the competing demands of desegregation and quality education. Thus, the argument intensifies that resources should be diverted from desegregation and committed to improving the quality of education, and others argue that the enhancement of quality does not justify reduction of integration. From this debate, other strategies to improve educational quality have sparked the establishment of black male academics and the parental choice program allowing for the first time low-income inner-city children to attend private, nonsectarian schools at public expense. This report documents the divergent

views and opinions on these issues and the efforts underway to enhance educational opportunities for minorities.

Respectfully,

Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson

Wisconsin Advisory Committee

Wisconsin Advisory Committee

Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson Madison

Ruth B. Bauman Oconto Falls

Shirley D. Harrison Milwaukee

Geraldine McFadden Milwaukee

Jasjit S. Minhas Hayward

Willie J. Nunnery Madison Candice Owley
Milwaukee

Kimberly Shankman Ripon

Dr. Gregory D. Squires Milwankee

Rev. William C. Wantland Eau Claire

Federico Zaragoza Milwaukec

Acknowledgments

The Wisconsin Advisory Committee wishes to thank the staff of the Commission's Central Regional Office for its help in the preparation of this summary report. The summary report was the principal assignment of Farella E. Robinson, with support from Jo Ann Daniels. The project was carried out under the overall supervision of Melvin L. Jenkins, Director, Central Regional Office.

Contents

1. Introduction City and County Demographics Education Demographics The Setting	
2. A Context for Examining the Impact of School Desegregation Upon Quality Education for Minority Students	
3. School Desegregation and Education Outcomes for Minorities	
4. Human Relations	ļ
5. Fifteen Years Later—Other Strategies Used to improve Education	
6. Implications of Housing Patterns Upon School Integration 2	?7
7. Conclusions and Recommendations	;-
Appendix A: Public Schools in Metropolitan Milwaukee	
Appendix B: Agenda	u

1. Introduction

'n 1954 the Supreme Court of the United States held in Brown v. Board of Education that legally compelled segregation of students by race denied equal protection of the laws as guaranteed by the 14th amendment and the "separate but equal" doctrine was constitutionally impermissible. Although desegregation and quality education were not fied together in Brown, tangible results hoped for were not only the equalization of resources and integration of black and white students, but ensuring quality education for black children.2 Opponents of school desegregation have now suggested that the process has affected the quality of education for black students negatively rather than positively. Milwaukee has been grappling with this issue since 1976, and given the continuing controversy in the community surrounding desegregation and quality education, it is appropriate to examine the progress made in meeting these competing demands.

Information was gathered during field investigations and a day and a half community forum. Educators from the city and suburban school districts, State officials, community groups, business groups, parents, and students were invited to participate. The Advisory Committee's analysis of the information gathered during the forum focuses on whether or not the education of minority students, but more expressly black students, has improved under desegregation. This analysis addresses desegregation and educational outcomes, interracial and human relations, the effect of housing patterns upon school desegregation, and other strategies used such as school choice and the development of black maic academies to improve the education of minority children.

City and County Demographics

The U.S. Bureau of the Census statistics for 1990 show that Milwaukee County, which includes most of the surrounding suburbs, has a population of 959,275 persons. In the county, racial and ethnic minorities are 260,411 or 27.1 percent of the population. In the city, racial and ethnic minorities are 269,464 or 42.9 percent of the population. Table 1 shows the racial and ethnic breakdown of persons residing in the county and city of Milwaukee.

Education Demographics

As of September 1991, Milwaukee Public Schools (MPS) had 138 schools with a total student population of 99,233. Of these students, 56,671 (57, percent) are black; 27,216 (27.4 percent) are white; 9,702 (9.8 percent) are Hispanic; 1,155 (1.2 percent) are American Indian; 3,352 (3.4 percent) are Asian; and 1,137 (1.1 percent) are other minorities. This population also includes 5,714 resident students from MPS who attend subarban schools by means of the Chapter 220 program, a voluntary city-suburban student transfer program to enhance racial balance in the suburbs. Blacks represent 71.5 percent of these students, Conversely, via Chapter 220, 873 white suburban students attend school in MPS.

^{1 347} U.S. 483 (1954); U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Statement of the United States Commission on Civil Rights on School Designation (Desember 1962), p. 1.

² Toid., pp. 17-18.

³ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, vol. I, pp. 250, 254-55 (investigat cited as Transcript).

⁴ U.S. Capsus of Population and Housing by Race and Hispanic Origin and Housing Unit County, 1990, Milwankee City and County (February 1991).

⁵ Ibid.

e TLIA

⁷ Data provided by Gary Peterson, coordinator of research, Milwanker Public Schools, Apr. 13, 1992.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Betty Nicholas, Chapter 220 program, Milwaukee Public Schools, telephone interview, Mar. 4, 1992.

TABLE 1 Racial and Ethnic Composition of Milwaukee County and the City of Milwaukee, 1990

	Milwaukee County		City of Milwaukee	
	Total	Undar 18 years	Total 2	Under 18 years
Population	959,275	NA NA	628,088	NA NA
White	698,864	138,591	381,714	71,015
Black	193,583	77,986	189,408	76,866
Amer. Indian, Eskimo, or Aleut	6,291	2,199	5,213	1,867
Asian or Pacific Islander	14,872	5,749	11,429	4,636
Other race	22, 99 4	10,751	21,915	10,695
Hispanic origin (of any race)	44,671	19,027	39,409	17,061

Source: Canada of Population and Housing, 1990: Public Law 94-171 Date.

According to a 1986 study commissioned by the National School Board Desegregation Research Project at the University of Chicago, Wisconsin was the eighth most segregated State for black students in the country. ¹⁰ The study showed that 70.4 percent of black students in Wisconsin were enrolled in segregated schools." The researchers theorized that because most of the State's black population is in Milwankee, it was reasonable to assume that the typical black student in MPS was also similarly segregated.14 Since that time, a report issued by the National School Board Association in January 1991 indicated that Wisconsin ranked seventh in the Nation for States with the largest percentage of blacks enrolled in schools with 50 to 100 percent minority populations. In Wisconsin, 75.3 percent of black students attended segregated schools. The study further showed that in 1988, under MPS's magnet school plan, 22.9 percent of black students were enrolled in

schools with more than 90 percent minorities and 29.9 percent of whites were enrolled in schools that are mostly attended by blacks.¹³

The amount of integration in the schools has been accomplished through a combination of creation of specialty schools (and concomitant voluntary busing), school closings, forced transfers, mandatory busing, and voluntary student transfers. MPS's desegregation efforts are the subject of controversy due to continuing concern that desegregation is not achieving the desired results of integration and improved education for black students.

The Setting

Efforts to desegregate the schools began in 1976 and include the implementation of the 1979 intradistrict settlement agreement, development of citywide specialty schools and programs, and interdistrict efforts to promote integrated education

^{10 &}quot;State Schools Ranked as 8th Most-Segregated," Milwaukoe Journal, Mas. 24, 1989, p. A-1.

 ¹⁵id.

^{12 1}bid.

¹³ National School Board Association, "Status of School Desegregation: The Next Generation" (January 1991); "The Nation's Schools Learns A 4th R: Resegregation." New York Times, Jan. 19, 1992, p. 8-1.

¹⁴ John F. Witte, "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwaukee" (paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegrogation Research, University of Chicago, Sept. 5, 1986), p. 3.

^{15 [}bid.; George A. Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwaukee" Wisconsin Policy Research Institute, June 1989), p. 4 (hereafter cited as Mitchell Report).

through a voluntary student transfer program with suburban school districts known as Chapter 220. 16 Despite setbacks and unmet expectations in making desegregation a reality, it is important to note some of the early gains made.

Unlike many other urban school systems, following its Federal court order, MPS moved with considerable dispatch in achieving the student and staff racial balance requirements. 17 Relying on the remedies called for in the 1979 intradistrict settlement agreement and a strong system of specialty schools, MPS met or exceeded its court-imposed desegregation goals each year. This was accomplished mostly by intradistrict transfers funded by the Chapter 220 program, and it was accomplished peacefully, without the public turmoil and acrimony that accompanied school desegregation in other cities such as Boston. Chapter 220 was lauded as a model for other school systems, and as the sort of effort that should be considered by other local and State bodies." Since then, these successes have dissipated into dissatisfaction with the educational results of desegregation, which continues today.

This dissatisfaction intensified with the proposal and public dialogue on the "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan" submitted by Dr. Charles V. Willie to address inequities in the intradistrict desegregation plan. Dr. Willie's study of the intradistrict plan found inequities in MPS's student assignment practices that did not allow adequate choice for all

parents, a cumbersome and costly transportation system that placed an undue burden on minority students, and a complicated student assignment plan that maximized educational opportunities for non-minorities but limited them for minorities. The interdistrict plan or Chapter 220 program was criticized for its costly transportation and the use of unfair screening practices or "creaming" by suburban districts to ensure the admission of only the best city students into suburban schools.

For the first time, in March 1990, Milwaukee's Mayor and the Common Council became involved in the interworking of the politically independent school system. In April 1990 Mayor John Norquist called for the abolishment of Chapter 220. He charged that "the program had fragmented black neighborhoods and rather than helping the cause of integration, had promoted segregation along class lines leaving low-income children in traditional, non-specialty schools, while middle class children of both races most likely attend specialty and suburban schools."

In response to this criticism, MPS and the suburban schools joined together in support of Chapter 220 and said that instead of scrapping the program, efforts should be made to concentrate on providing greater quality of education.²⁵ Most recently, Mayor Norquist has called for the replacement of the public school system with a voucher program that allows parents to enroll their children in any public or private nonsectarian school of their choice.

¹⁶ Mitchell Report, p. 1.

¹⁷ Milwaukee Public Schools, "Reflections on the Milwaukee Desegregation Superiorea," August 1980, p. 1.

¹⁸ Transcript, vol. I, p. 15.

¹⁹ Charles V. Willie, Michael J. Alver, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan for Milwauker Public Schools" (February 1990), app. 1-12-16 (hercafter cited as "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan"); Felmers Chancy, president, National Association for the Advancement of Colored People-Milwauker, letter to Tommy Thompson, Governor of Wisconsin, Feb. 6, 1990 (hersefter cited as Chancy Letter); "Abolish Chapter 220, Norquist Says, 220 Program Misses Mark, Helps Segregation Mayor Says," Milwaskee Journal, Apr. 4, 1990, p. 1-A.

^{20 &}quot;School Attendance Plan Evokes Distrust," Millesukee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1; "Action on School Plan Too Rushed, Patents Say," Millesukee Journal, Feb. 28, 1990, p. A-1; "Aldermen Want A Say in School Propossi," Millesukee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1.

^{21 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," p. 61.

²² Chancy Letter; "Norquist Says Revenup 220; Empower Parents," Milwaukoe Community Journal, May 23, 1990, p. 1; Transcript, wol. I. p. 145.

^{23 &}quot;Aldermon Want A Say in School Proposal," Milwenkee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1.

^{24 &}quot;Mayor Tells Agency Chapter 220 Isn's Working," Milwankov Iou and Apr. 27, 1990, p. B-1; Transcript, vol. I, pp. 299-301.

^{25 &}quot;Peterkin to Mayor; 220 Too Important to Scrap," The Milwauker Community Journal, Apr. 25, 1990, pp. 1, 6.

^{26 &}quot;Mayor Sees End of Urban Schools," Milweuker Journal, Jap. 2, 1992, p. A-1.

2. A Context for Examining the Impact of School Desegregation Upon Quality Education for Minority Students

Chronology of Desegregation in Metropolitan Milwaukee

January 1976 Federal Judge John Reynolds ruled the Milwaukee Public Schools were segregated unlawfully.

April 1976 The Wisconsin Legislature enacted Chapter 220, a program to aid in implementing integration within MPS and to promote voluntary metropolitan integration.

September 1976 Implementation of Chapter 220 began, within the city and on a city-suburban basis.

May 1979 Judge Reynolds approved the plan MPS had been using since 1976 to respond to the order to end segregation.

October 1984 MPS sued the State and 24 suburban school districts for continued segregation.

August 1987 Settlement agreement reached to improve the quality of education and to promote racial and cultural integration in the metropolitan area.

School desegregation as a legal issue was initiated in Milwaukee in 1965 by the local chapter of the

National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP). After more than a decade of legal effort, on January 19, 1976, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin ruled that MPS was unconstitutionally segregated and must develop a plan to desegregate schools. A settlement agreement was reached in 1979 that provided for 75 percent of the system's students to be educated in racially balanced schools. This agreement prohibited all-white schools but permitted some all-black or nearly all-black schools. Racially balanced elementary and middle schools were defined as between 25 and 60 percent black, and racially balanced high schools were defined as between 20 and 60 percent black. Before 1976 only 14 of 158 schools were integrated. By 1988, 112 of the system's 138 schools were integrated through busing." At this point, MPS's court-ordered desegregation plan helped quite a bit in reducing segregation.

In the 1979-80 school year, MPS had 79 percent of its students attending racially balanced schools and all other requirements of the settlement agreement were either met or exceeded. However, in 1984 when the settlement agreement expired, the number of black students in MPS exceeded 50 percent and was steadily moving toward 55 percent. Sensing that the effectiveness of the plan was weakening, MPS believed that a metropolitan student assignment plan was necessary to maintain the level of desegregation that it had achieved.

¹ George A. Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwanker," (Wisconsin Policy Research Institute: June 1989) (hereafter cited as Mitchell Report), pp. 1, 22,

² Amos v. Board of School Directors of the City of Milwankee, 408 F.Supp. 765, 818 (E.D. Wis. 1976); all'd sub-most. Americang v. Broman, 539 F.2d 265 (7th Cir. 1976), vaceted 433 U.S. 672 (1977).

³ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, vol. I, p. 14 (horaster cited as Transcript).

⁴ Mitchell Repart, p. 54.

⁵ Prepared by the Milwankee Public Schools, "Reflections on the Milwankee Desegregation Experience," August 1980, p. 8.

⁶ Charles V. Willie, Michael I. Alves, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan for Milwaukee Public Schools" (February 1990), app. 1-4 (hereafter cited as "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan").

It is important to note why desegregation was weakening. Milwaukee in the 1980s, similar to other cities, experienced demographic and economic changes resulting in a larger minority population and a declining white population. Even before desegregation, Milwaukee was losing its white population at a rate of 1.3 to 2.4 percent per year. Because of the declining white population, it became clear that to achieve desegregation MPS would require "more" participation from suburban districts. It was also during this period that the national political climate and Federal Government enforcement efforts changed to a degree that desegregation was not considered fashionable. Dr. Gary Orfield, a desegregation expert, wrote that:

The conservative movement of the 1980s has a sweeping effect on State and local governments. . . When the Federal government took the posture that educational standards had deteriorated and priority must be given to raising them, the States eagerly responded. They adopted stiffer public school graduation requirements and became more tolerant of resulting inequities. Few States had ever paid serious attention to civil rights policy, except when under direct Federal pressure, and now many adopted policies that had the consequence of limiting opportunities for blacks. It was during this period that some local school districts sought, with the Reagan Justice Department's encouragement, to throw off the "burdens" of the school desegregation orders they had been under for a decade or more. . . .

In October 1984 MPS filed a lawsuit against the surrounding suburban districts and the State of Wisconsin. The lawsuit, Board of School Directors of the City of Milwaukee v. Thompson (84-C-877), alleged that the defendants had cooperated in a continuing series of actions and failures to act with respect to housing and education to intentionally

isolate Milwaukee black students within the city and to maintain segregation and inequality of educational opportunity in the metropolitan area. The NAACP, the Milwaukee Teachers' Education Association (MTEA), and the Wisconsin Education Association Council (WEAC) later joined the lawsuit on the side of MPS. A settlement agreement was reached in August 1987. The goals of the agreement were to improve the quality of education and to promote racial and cultural integration. The parties agreed to expand efforts to achieve greater racial balance of the public schools in the metropolitan area through Chapter 220 and pro-integration housing initiatives.

Implementation of the settlement agreement began during the 1987-88 school year and will expire July 1, 1993, after the 1992-93 school year. 4 The settlement provided the following: (1) voluntary increases in the number of minority students attending suburban schools (hopefully enrolling 8,500 minority students by 1992-93); (2) reservation by MPS of 10 percent of student assignments for suburban transfers; (3) creation of a housing counseling and recruitment center to give families advice on moving to areas that would increase racial integration; (4) establishment of a mortgage loan assistance program to help minorities move to the suburbs and whites to the city: (5) provision by the State of \$30 million for remedial education in Milwaukee; (6) establishment of a coordinating council to oversee and promote the city-suburbs transfer program; (7) hiring of more minority employees by suburban schools; and (8) application by school boards of only the same standards. tests, or procedures to transfer students as to their own resident students.

Thus far, the full desegregative potential of the interdistrict settlement agreement has not been achieved. According to information in the "long-

⁷ Ibid., app. (-11.

⁸ Gary Orfield and Carole Ashkinaza, The Closing Door, Conservative Policy and Black Opportunity (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991), p. xvii.

⁹ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 17-18.

¹⁰ Ibid., vol. I, p. 18.

¹¹ Thid n 19

¹² Settlement Agreement, U.S. District Court, Bastern District of Wisconsin, Sept. 16, 1987, p. 1.

^{13 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," app. 1-5.

¹⁴ Sattlement Agreement, pp. 2, 6.

^{15 [}bid., pp. 1-21; Transcript, vol. I, pp. 19-21.

Range Educational Equity Plan," although 506 new MPS students transferred to suburban schools in the 1988-89 school year, the number of new applications was four times the number of students accepted as transfers. The new students resulted in a total enrollment of MPS pupils in suburban schools of 4,304. They represented 6 to 7 percent of the 65,220 resident student population of the suburban districts. During the 1988-89 school ver. 972 suburban students transferred to MPS. They represented 1 percent of the 96,290 resident student population of Milwaukeo. This analysis reveals that both city and suburban school systems can accommodate more students than either had received to that date.

Because of Chapter 220, the proportion of racial and ethnic minorities in MPS was reduced by 6 or 7 percent in 1988-89 and the proportion of racial miporities in suburban school districts increased by 150 percent. Even with this increase, however, the suburban minority student population is only 11 percent of the combined resident suburban student body. Also due to transfers, during the 1988-89 school year, the proportion of white students in suburban districts was reduced by 1 percent and the proportion of white students in MPS was increased by 3 percent." The most recent data show that 5,714 or 5.8 percent of MPS minority students attend suburban schools; 71.5 percent of these students are black. MPS schools are attended by 873 or 1.8 percent of the suburban resident students.

In 1985 a study commission was appointed by the Governor and the superintendent of public instruction to assess the quality of education in the 22 met-

ropolitan public schools.²³ In its report, "Better Public Schools," the study commission found that there was an unacceptable disparity in educational opportunity and achievement between poor and minority children on one hand and nonpoor and white children on the other. It also found that even though commendable examples of effective programs and high scholastic achievement occurred in some of the schools, thousands of young people, most black, were leaving the system with limited academic skills

Dr. John Witte, who directed the study noted above, soon developed a followup paper called "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwaukee." His findings concluded that an extraordinary degree of educational inequality existed between races, income classes, individual schools, and school districts.24 The study described three different educational worlds. The first is a white, middle-class world in the suburbs, where educational attainment is significantly above national norms and children are moving through the educational systems with considerable success. The second is of students enrolled in the city of Milwankee's specialty of magnet schools. These schools are more or less racially integrated, although less successfully integrated in terms of economic class.25 Educational achievement in these schools is usually somewhat lower than in the suburban schools, but generally above national medians. The students show consistent educational progress and promise of future educational success. The third world, consisting of the vast majority of MPS students, is a stark contrast to the other two." Regular or traditional MPS schools are predominantly low-income, minority schools where educational at-

^{16 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," app. I-6.

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Ibid.

^{19 1}bid.

²⁰ Ibid.

²¹ Ibid.

²² Ibid., Gerald Vance, director. Compact for Educational Opportunity, telephone interview, Mar. 17, 1992.

²³ Study Commission on the Quality of Education in the Metropolitan Milwaukee Public Schools, "Better Public Schools" (October 1985) (horeafter cited as Study Commission Report).

²⁴ John F. Witto, "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwaukee" (Paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, University of Chicago, Sept. 5, 1986), p. 1.

²⁵ Ibid.

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ Ibid.

tainment is consistently below the national medians (in higher grades often in the lowest national quartile), school dropout rates are dismal and often 10 times higher than in suburban districts, and the future prospects for those who exit the educational system are bleak.²⁸

Calls for change have come from the broader community because of poor educational attainment by black students and concerns that desegregation had not substantially progressed toward the intended results. For example, in February 1990 the speaker for the Wisconsin Assembly questioned whether desegregation was achieving the desired results of improving the education of students. In 1990 the Milwaukee chapter of the NAACP contacted the Governor to complain about the widening achievement gap between black and white students. Finally, Mayor Norquist has criticized the Chapter 220 program for its inequities and called for its replacement with parental choice programs.

^{28 [}bid., pp. 1-2

^{29 &}quot;Loftus Questions Integration Plan," Milwaukee Journal, Feb. 1, 1990, p. 1-B.

³⁰ Felmers Chancy, president, Milwaukee chapter, NAACP, letter to Tommy Thompson, Governor of Wisconsin, Feb. 6, 1990.

³¹ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 299-301.

3. School Desegregation and Educational Outcomes for Minorities

The desegregation program rested on the basic assumption that with enough time. State financial assistance, and new spending, minority academic achievement would improve significantly and close the gap with white academic achievement. Therefore, the question raised here is whether academic achievement for black students has been raised or lowered during desegregation. Unfortunately, 15 years after the court decision, enactment of Chapter 220, and over \$334 million dollars spent, neither the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, the Milwaukee Public Schools, or the suburban districts have done a comprehensive evaluation of the educational outcomes of desegregation.2 The study commission report by Dr. John Witte assessed the quality and equity of education in the 22 metropolitan public school districts in Milwaukee, but did not focus on school desegregation. However, it is important to note some of the achievement levels described in this report.

Although this study did find some examples of high achievement in Milwaukee, it overwhelmingly found that most minority children and children from poor families were performing below satisfactory levels.³ The research showed that:

By the fifth grade (perhaps earlier), a significant majority of poor and/or minority children are performing below the national average on achievement tests.

There is a significant gap in math scores between boys and girls, with MPS longitudinal data showing large drops in math scores from grade 7 to grade 10 for girls of all races, but particularly for Hispanic and black girls.

The average grade point in 13 of Milwaukee's 15 public high schools is less than 2.0, or C.

Over one-quarter of the courses taken in MPS high schools end in a recorded grade of F or U for unsatisfactory. In seven of the MPS high schools, the percentage of F s was above 30.

MPS has a dropout rate more than double both the State average or the highest rate of any suburban school, with most dropouts occurring before the 11th grade.

For the grades tested, 2, 5, 7, and 10, the percentages of students in MPS below the national median ranged from 45.2 percent in grade 2 to 58.3 percent in grade 10. Of all suburban students tested, the percentages below the national median ranged from 17.6 percent in grade 2 to 29 percent in grade 10.

In schools with significantly lower achievement scores, there was less parent involvement.

While one-half of the suburban districts have between 5 percent and 17 percent minority students, minority teachers in the suburbs represent only .5 percent of the total teaching staff. In 1983-84, 18.5 percent of the MPS teaching staff members were minority as compared to a 59 percent minority student enrollment.

¹ George A. Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwanker" (Wisconsin Policy Research Institute: June 1989) (hereafter cited as Mitchell Report), p. 1.

² Ibid., p. 3.

³ Study Commission on the Quality of Education in the Metropolitan Milwaukee Public Schools, "Better Public Schools" (October 1985), pp. 1, 11-12.

⁴ Ibid., p. 12.

Based upon this information, the study commission concluded that there were considerable differences in academic achievement among individual schools in MPS and between city and suburban schools.5 Overall, student achievement in the suburbs was above national norms, while in the city most grades were not reaching national norms, even though they had improved. Non-low-income students did better than low-income students, and white students did better than blacks and Hispanics; and in general, students in the suburbs did better than those in the city. 6 Differences in achievement between economic and racial groups existed in both the city and the suburbs, but the differences were larger in Milwankee.' Racial and socioeconomic differences in test results, grades, and credits earned were very large by the tenth grade, particularly in MPS.8 The dropout rate for minority and low-income students was particularly severe." In general, MPS students in specialty schools performed better than students in traditional schools, and there was a direct relationship between strong school leadership, team work, high expectations, and academic achievement at the elementary and middle school levels.

Student achievement was addressed in one other study, An Evaluation of State-Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwaukee by George A. Mitchell of the Wisconsin Policy Research Institute. This study, issued in June 1989, reviewed racial integration in MPS. One aspect of the study was an analysis of student achievement in traditional versus specialty schools and of transfer students in the Chapter 220 program. The report concluded that the desegregation program had failed to increase the academic achievement of black students.

According to the Mitchell study, black achievement in MPS's 10 integrated traditional high schools was strikingly low. In 1988:

Grades averaged D to D+,

Black students received F's in 26 to 43 percent of their courses.

Only 8 to 21 percent of black students exceeded national test averages.

The gap between black and white performance remains large at most specialty and traditional schools. Some narrowing has occurred since 1983-84 often due to lower white achievement.¹⁴

The Mitchell study concluded that while racial segregation was reduced, a new type of dual system based upon socioeconomic factors had emerged. The study concurred with conclusions reached in the study commission report that suburban whites did better than city whites; city whites outperformed suburban blacks; and suburban blacks exceeded the achievement of city blacks.¹⁵

A report by MPS on educational results in the 1989-90 school year showed mixed results. The report stated the following:

Suspensions

While the rate of suspensions fell in six schools, it rose in six others with large black and Hispanic populations. While the overall rate of suspensions fell from 17 to 15 percent, the percentage of blacks suspended in 1989-90 was at least

⁵ Ibid., p. 13.

⁶ Ibád.

^{7 [}bid.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Ebid.

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Mitchell Report.

¹² Thid., pp. 53, 84.

¹³ lbid., p. 4.

¹⁴ Ibid., p. 53.

¹⁵ Ibid., pp. 53-54, 85.

^{16 &}quot;Societal Conditions Contributed to Poor Report Card," The Milwarker Community Journal, Oct. 24, 1990, p. 1.

twice the percentage of white students at 12 high schools. Twelve schools had suspension rates above 10 percent.

Dropout fates

Improvements in dropout rates have not changed significantly. [In plreceding school years the dropout rates were 10.5 and 10.1. Nine schools had dropout rates above 10 percent for 1989-90 and North Division (predominantly black high school) had a rate of 26.4 percent.

Attendance

Attendance rate fell in eight of the 15 high schools, while rising in only three.

Grade Point Average

Grade points fell at nine schools and rose at just five. White students managed a collective GPA of 2.0 or higher at six high schools, while Hispanics at two schools had a collective GPA of 2.0 and blacks had none. Only Rufus King and the Milwaukee High School for the Arts had collective grade points above 2.0. No school had a GPA in the 2.50 range. At 11 high schools blacks had a grade point of 1.5 or lower. The average grade point average for a black student was 1.3.

The most disturbing data concerns the black males who comprise 27.6 percent of the student population but comprise 50 percent of student suspensions and about 80 percent have a grade point average of D or less. This problem has caused MPS to be one of the first public schools in the country to open special schools for black males. [This issue is discussed later in this report.]¹⁸

Parental Attitudes About MPS

Parents of children attending MPS gave the ed-

ucation their children receive high marks in comparison to non-MPS parents. Lack of discipline was cited as the top problem in the schools. Forty-two percent of parents say the school have either improved or stayed the same in the last five years. Lack of discipline was cited as the main reason that the schools have not improved. Sixty-one percent say they believe class size has a great deal to do with achievement and 51 percent would pay more taxes to reduce class size. Sixty-seven percent say they would be willing to pay more in taxes to improve the quality of education in Milwaukee. Fifty-one percent of respondents say desegregation guidelines in MPS should be abolished. However, there was a dramatic difference in opinion by race. Fifty-nine percent of black parents believe desegregation guidelines should not be abolished, while 52 percent of Hispanic and 55 percent of white respondents feel the guidelines should be abolished. When parents were asked what MPS should be doing they listed improve discipline and upgrade the quality of teachers. Other significant parental responses were ending busing and more parental involvement.

During the community forum, the Committee received information from participants that suggests that academic outcomes for most black students had not improved under desegregation. Some contend quality education should be the sole goal. Others contend that both quality education and integration are important and are irrevocably connected to our quest for equal educational opportunity. Some of the opinions expressed were:

Dr. Robert Peterkin, Former Superintendent

The issues of quality education and desegregation now have equal weight. There was a time when that was not true. We may have thought it was true. We may have said it was true. But,

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Told.

^{19 &}quot;Parents Give Public Schools Fassing Grade," The Milwaukee Community Journal, Sept. 26, 1990, p. 2.

²⁰ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, *Transcript*, vol. I, pp. 9-120 (percenter cited as *Transcript*).

^{21 [}bid.

in fact, we spent time with the assignment of young people and thought of their educational programs as a secondary feature, as if some magic reassignment of students would automatically improve schools. . . That is one of the reasons why I tend to focus more on school improvement than I do on the mechanics of desegregation and have recently reaffirmed that for this community. One of the things that we have not been able to come up with is a plan, to deal with desegregating systems and still provide the best possible education. . . Student outcomes have to get better. 22

Carl Mueller, Chief of Staff, Mayor's Office

Desegregation is important but quality education is more important. . . . In seeking to remedy segregation we have fallen into a strategy that is debilitating for the majority of students. . . ,Efforts toward integration has produced segregation along class lines, low-income students of both races that are heavily concentrated in traditional schools, while the middle class of both races are heavily concentrated in MPS specialty schools and suburban schools. . . . Finally, Chapter 220 has simply failed to improve educational outcomes for minority students. Black achievement in the city's 10 integrated traditional high schools is appallingly low, In 1988, for example, grades averaged from D to D+. Black students received F's in a range of 26 to 43 percent of their courses. Only 8 to 21 percent of the black students exceeded national test averages."

Joyce Mallory, School Board Member

The method by which MPS desegregated its schools did not ensure equal educational opportunity for all students. . . Its reliance on specialty and magnet schools resulted in a kind of two-tier system where I have a group of high quality city specialty schools where both black and white students receive an excellent educa-

tion... the original premise of school desegregation has never been linked with quality education... So we were never told or required to provide educational programs to correct deficiencies that many children of color, particularly black children had, once desegregation occurred....²⁴

David Hase, President, Mequon-Thiensville School Board

Support for school desegregation efforts are fast eroding because of costs and quality issues. . . . MPS is not a quality school in comparison to some of the suburban schools. There are some fine schools in the district, but overall there is much to do regarding quality. Integration and quality must be compatible and not competing goals. The enhancement of quality does not justify the reduction of integration efforts. There needs to be a happy marriage between quality and desegregation. . . .

State Representative Polly Williams

The only kids who are benefactors of this whole system [desegregation] are the white students. They're the ones that are making it in the system. And, of course, those children of parents who can afford to pay and purchase the kind of education they want. Poor people don't have the chance at all here. . . . We don't want this desegregation. Desegregation in the city of Milwaukee is terrible, and I'd like to see it abolished and go back to educating our children in our neighborhoods regardless of color. And it doesn't matter if they're all black schools. I think black kids can learn in an all-black situation.

Dr. Howard Fuller, Director, Department of Health and Human Services

Basically, what I believe is that Milwaukee pursued a discriminatory implementation of desegregation; and that, in essence, what happened

²² Ibid., pp. 507-08, 111-12, 115.

²³ Ibid., pp. 298, 301-02.

²⁴ Ibid., pp. 121-23.

²⁵ Ibid., pp. 198-99, 207-08.

²⁶ Fald., pp. 275-76.

in Milwaukee was they stood the *Brown* decision on its head. . . . There were tremendous gaps in achievement levels between white kids and black kids in elementary schools. And all of this was hidden by the refusal of MPS, up until the Governor's Commission was put together, to develop disaggregate data so that we could, in fact, understand what was happening to African American children, and for that matter, the Hispanic children. . . . Because it was all covered up in aggregate data, and it was only after we actually begin to disaggregate the data that the truth about what was happening to African American children in these desegregated schools begin to come to light. The state of t

Since Dr. Fuller's presentation before the Wisconsin Advisory Committee, he was appointed superintendent of MPS and now has the opportunity to address the problems associated with desegregation and academic achievement.

In August 1991 Dr. Fuller presented to the school board proposals for long-term reform of MPS. His proposals related primarily to improved education and intradistrict pupil assignment issues. The major thrust of his reform is high academic achievement by establishing higher graduation requirements, tougher school safety and discipline standards, greater parental choice and involvement, school by school accountability, and a school construction plan aimed at easing crowding. With the exception

of his parental choice initiatives, his reform plans were well received by the school board. 28

Other Minorities

Ethnic minorities such as Hispanics and Asians perceive that desegregation has not benefited them. The 1976 desegregation order was only written in terms of black students and white students. For desegregation purposes, Hispanics were classified as white. Moreover, there was not much support for desegregation in the Hispanic community because by and large they feared busing and the loss of neighborhood schools. Hispanics say that desegregation has caused their children's educational needs to be neglected. Although student achievement for Hispanics is not as low as blacks, Hispanic children, like black children, have failed to make acceptable academic progress.

MPS's 1989-90 report card on achievement showed that, similar to blacks, the rate of suspension rose in schools with large Hispanic populations. Hispanics received a collective GPA of 2.0 or higher in at least two schools. Miguel Berry of the Mexican American Society stated that Hispanics, who are only 9.3 percent of the student population, make up 86 percent of student dropouts. Although Hispanics are 9.0 percent of MPS students enrolled in Chapter 220, some Hispanics perceive that their children's level of participation in this program, as well as in the specialty schools, has been limited. Mr. Berry said this is due to low Hispanic enrollments in the feeder schools that access the specialty

²⁷ Ibid., pp. 76, 82.

^{28 &}quot;School Board Likes Fuller Plan with Exception of School Choice," Milwaukse Journal, Aug. 11, 1991, p. B-2.

²⁹ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 344, 60; "Hispanic Pupils" Needs Most Not Get Lost in Desegregation Shuffle," Milwanker Journal, Aug. 31, 1987, p. B-1.

³⁰ John F. Witte, "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwankee" (Paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, University of Chicago, Sept. 5, 1986), p. 22.

³¹ Transcript, vol. I, p. 344.

³² Ibid.

^{33 &}quot;Hispanic Pupils' Needs Must Not Get Lost in Desegregation Shuffle," Milwaukee Journal, Aug. 31, 1987, p. B-I.

³⁴ Thid.

^{35 &}quot;Societal Conditions Contributed to Pour Report Card," The Milwaudee Community Journal, Oct. 24, 1990, p. 1.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Transcript, vol. I, p. 344. (Official carollment data provided by MPS indicate Hispanics comprise 9.8 percent of the student enrollment.)

³⁸ fbid.

^{39 [}bid.

schools. 40 In the quest for quality education for Hispanics, Mr. Berry said that actions should be taken to cradicate low expectations of Hispanic students, eliminate cultural and language barriers, and take affirmative steps to recruit Hispanic teachers. 41

Asian students are 3,352 or 3.4 percent of MPS pupil population. Being a smaller group than both blacks and Hispanics, Asians tend to be less visible and less affected by desegregation. Asian students are entolled in MPS schools and Chapter 220. However, they prefer attending the suburban schools. Entollment figures for 1990-91 show that of the Chapter 220 students, 13 percent were Asians versus 2.6 enrollment in MPS schools. A representative from the Asian community, Chia Thao of the Hmong American Friendship Association, stated that Asian students prefer the suburban schools because they feel more comfortable with the teachers.

Asian parents are primarily concerned about cultural and language barriers in the schools. Some suggested recommendations for improved education for Asian students were elimination of language barriers through bilingual transitional education for students and adults, after-school tutoring, bilingual teacher aides, creative and nondiscriminatory methods of teaching limited-English-speaking students, and drug and alcohol counseling. Mr. Thao's main criticism of the schools was poor channels to information about school programs caused by language and cultural barriers.

It appears that both Hispanic and Asian students have been somewhat invisible or uninvolved participants in the school desegregation program.

During research for the "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," the following comments were made about and by Hispanics and Asians regarding desegregation practices of MPS:

- —There is confusion because the definition of desegregation is based on categories of blacks and nonblacks for Milwaukee, rather than blacks, Hispanics, Asian Americans, Native Americans as one category of protected minorities versus whites in the intradistrict transfer program. (Interview with central administrator 1989)
- The school system gives "lip service" to bilingual programs and is not diligent in providing equal access for bilingual students to specialty schools. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)
- -Ethnic minorities are discouraged from participating in the interdistrict transfer program even though some are in the category of protected minorities for whom the program was created because the city school system wishes to keep them, since they are classified as white in Milwaukee. (Interview with ethnic minority person 1989)
- —There is no programmatic protection for language minorities who are not in bilingual programs. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)
- —In bilingual education the language-development programs are not in the predominantly white schools but are in the predominantly black schools. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)
- -There is no clear policy on exceptional education services for bilingual students who need such services. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)

⁴⁰ Ibid.

⁴¹ Ibld., p. 345.

⁴² Gary Peterson, coordinator of Research, Milwauken Public Schools, telephone interview, Mat. 4, 1992.

⁴³ Dr. Howard Puller, superintendent of schools, letter with enrollment figures to Melvin Jenkins, director, Central Regional Office, U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, June 21, 1991.

⁴⁴ Transcript, vol. I. pp. 59-60.

⁴⁵ Ibid., pp. 58-65.

⁴⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁷ Ibid., pp. 63-65.

—Many linguistic minorities cannot fill out the paperwork to get the options that are available and there is no one available to give guidance. Parent Information Centers are needed and should be in each Service Delivery Area. (Interview with linguistic minority persons 1989)⁴⁸

The preceding information would strongly indicate that much of the desegregation debate in Milwaukee revolves around whether black students have benefited academically from desegregation. As the available data show, educational outcomes for black students are less than satisfactory, and the gap continues to widen between white and black students." Assuming that enough time and financial assistance have gone into desegregation, what other factors affeet the schooling of students? According to Michael Smith, president of the Milwaukee Metropolitan Alliance of Black Educators, other conditions such as single parent homes, joblessness, teen pregnancy, and crime contribute to the educational morass in urban schools. In response to the 1990 MPS report card on educational performance of blacks. Mr. Smith stated:

Negative living conditions have an adverse effect on the ability of students to learn. . . Schools are not doing anything that is making it worse but rather it's something going on in the lives of the students that is making them worse. . . . The findings of the report card are not so much

a reflection on the schools, but the quality of life which is getting worse. Si

Gary Orfield, a desegregation expert, believes it is reasonable to expect some academic benefit from desegregation, but suggests that poverty and other socioeconomic-related experiences also influence deseg-regation outcomes.⁵² The Mitchell report, the only study on integration and achievement outcomes. does not fully take into account all of these factors. It is known from longitudinal studies that have been done in other cities that desegregation appears to have some positive effects. Robert L. Crain's work on the long-term effects of desegregation in Hartford, Connecticut, for example, shows that black students who participated in a desegregation program, compared to a control group who did not, were more likely to go to college, to graduate, to get professional jobs, to avoid problems with police, to avoid unwed parenthood, and to have more white friends. James Rosenbaum's research on school experiences of low-income black children in white suburbs also shows favorable outcomes for students and families who participated fully in school desegregation. Until MPS conducts further research on the question of desegregation effects and what the long-term benefits and costs have been, the debate on desegregation versus quality education will not likely be settled 600D.

⁴⁸ Charles V. Willie, Michael J. Alves, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equality Plan for Milwackee Public Schools" (Pebmary 1990), app. 1-14-15.

⁴⁹ Mitchell Report, p. 53.

^{50 &}quot;Societal Conditions Contributed to Poor 'Report Card," The Milwaukee Community Journal, Oct. 24, 1990, p. 1.

⁵¹ Ibid.

^{52 &}quot;Achievement Gap Continues," Ornata World-Harald, Aug. 19, 1991, p. 1.

⁵³ Robert L. Crain, "The Long-Term Effects of Desegregation: Results from a True Experiment" (Paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, Chicago, III., September 1986).

⁵⁴ James E. Rosenbaum, "School Experiences of Low-Income Black Children in White Suburba" (Paper prepared for National Conference on School Desegregation Research, Chicago, IL, September 1986).

4. Human Relations

Thic desegregation provides a legal remedy for constitutional violations, it was also hoped desegregation would reduce racial tensions and prepare students for living in a diverse society. Therefore, the success of school desegregation also depends on the degree to which students, teachers, administrators, and parents are able to create conditions under which students of different races are brought together to understand and accept each other. Based on this assumption, quality education cannot be measured solely by grades and test scotes, and as pointed out by then President Richard M. Nixon:

It is a place not only of learning but also of fiving—where a child's friendships center, where he learns to measure himself against others, to share, to compete, to cooperate—and it is the one institution above all others with which the parent shares his child.

The actions and attitudes of students, teachers, and parents of the differing racial groups are highly significant elements of the desegregation process and its successful outcome. The questions raised here are: What is the racial climate in the schools? What is the nature and extent of integration among students, teachers, administrators, and parents? What steps have been taken to promote successful adjustments to desegregation and racial understanding?

It is reasonable to assume that increased racial polarization in the broader community of Milway-

kee over such issues as police-community relations, employment opportunities, housing, and increased militancy within the black leadership has affected MPS's ability to integrate schools in the metropolitan area.

Since much of the concern about desegregation in Milwaukee has focused on the academic achievement of blacks and maintaining racially balanced schools, there has not been much study on the racial climate in the schools. During the 1989-90 and 1990-91 school years, a number of racial incidents were reported between Chapter 220 students and suburban students and between black and white students attending school in MPS.5 During 1989-90 the racial tensions increased to the point that a circuit court judge of the children's court recommended that the courts work directly with MPS to ease racial tensions. This was triggered by the judge's observations of increased cases involving racial conflicts among students. The judge attributed part of the cause to integration in the schools."

Information received during the community forum revealed considerable racial polarization among teachers and a negative view of white teachers by some blacks in the broader community. According to State Representative Polly Williams and her legislative aide, Iarry Harwell, this is caused by white teachers' insensitivity, control by a predominately white teachers' union over educational decisions affecting black students, unfair teacher assignments,

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Milliton v. Bredley: The Implications for Metropolitan Description (Conference, Nov. 9, 1974),
 p. 131.

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Rucial Isolation in the Public Schools (Feb. 9, 1967), p. 157.

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Understanding School Desegregation (1971), p. 12.

^{4 &}quot;Call for Black Militia Stuns Milwaukee," The New York Times, Apr. 6, 1990, p. B-1.

⁵ Milwaukse Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1989-90 and 1990-91 (April 1991), pp. 59-60; "Race Problems Tied to Misconceptions," Milwaukse Journal, May 5, 1990, p. B-3; "Embattiod Bulkin Urges Unity at School," Milwaukse Journal, May 23, 1990, p. 1; "Officials Deny Racial Problems in Falls Schools," Wantesha Freeman, May 22, 1990, p. A-1.

^{6 &}quot;Judges Say Racial Tensions May Be Rising," Milwankee Journal, May 22, 1990, p. 1.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Wisconsis Advisory Committee to U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, community forum, May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, pp. 267-71, 118-20 (hereafter cited as Transcript):

and the use of racial quotes to maintain a racially balanced teacher staff.

State Representative Polly Williams stated:

The desegregation settlement made sure that the ratio of teachers in the schools would always be 7 whites out of 10 teachers. And if there's a black teacher in school and the number of black teachers are going over that amount, they move the black teacher. . . . And we have some black teachers that really are very upset. They call me because they have been at the schools for years. They know the children. They want to stay at these schools, but if that 30 percent level is attained a seasoned experjenced black teacher will have to leave the black school and be replaced. by a new white-someone who just got out of college, who doesn't even know the kids, who has no interest, and who's only coming in because all the white teachers have to serve time in the black community to get their experience so that they can get the better jobs, the better positions.

In regard to white control over school decisions, State Representative Williams reported:

[Black teachers] are outvoted by all the white teachers. And they'll say that they know that what they (white educators) have decided to do is not going to work for this majority-black student body that's in those schools. But the white teachers say, "No, this is what we want." And the vote always comes down on the side of the majority while, and it's very frustrating.

Felmers Chaney, president of the Milwaukee chapter of the NAACP, reported that to some extent the lack of parental involvement in the schools is caused by poor communications and insensitivity by school staff. He stated:

[Black parents] don't face up too good with the school system because they feel a little intimidated. Half the time when the parents have to go in, we [NAACP] have to go in with them. Everybody looks down their nose on them,

teachers and principals... In the school we will never get quality education unless we do something inside of the schools. We either have to have a retraining program or we have to have a firing program... Because anytime the teachers sit in a room in a school where the majority of them are black and when the bell rings, the teachers sit there and say, "Here come those animals"—something is wrong with those teachers."

Some examples cited as cultural insensitivity by white teachers were their annoyance at black dress styles and lack of understanding of black culture. 13

An effort to address interpersonal and human relations in the schools was the Integrated Pupil and Family Support Task Force, established in 1989 to develop a cooperative program through which community agencies, parents, and MPS work together to increase student attendance and social and academic achievement. In May 1990 the task force issued its report with findings and recommendations that, among other things, expressly addressed prevention and intervention strategies to deal with race and cul-tural relations in the schools.¹⁴ The task force determined that student programs that fostered "belongingness," social responsibility, and positive social experiences were needed. Minority parents, in particular, reported a need for a review of desegregation laws and courses on human and race relations for students and staff. Parents also expressed a concern about the disproportionate number of white staff educating their children. 15 Steps proposed to address these concerns were inservice training for teachers on human and race relations, review of desegregation issues, and expansion of strategies such as peer counseling, cross-age tutoring, and peer mediation. Other relevant recommendations made by the task force were to plan and pilot a multicultural awareness program, infuse multicultural diversity into the curriculum, and to train minority parents in establishing effective partnerships with teachers."

⁹ Dåd.

¹⁰ Ibid., pp. 268-69.

¹¹ Ibid., pp. 269-70.

¹² Ibid., pp. 317-18.

¹³ Ibid., pp. 270-71.

¹⁴ Milwanico Public Schools, Repart of the Integrated Pupil Family Support Services Task Force (May 10, 1993), pp. 1-3, 7-17, 41-56.

¹⁵ fbjd., pp. 7-17, 41-52.

¹⁶ Ibid.

though implementation of these recommendations is only in its initial stages, this is an opportunity for MPS to enhance, honestly and effectively, interracial and cultural relations among staff, students, and parents. ¹⁸

The 1987 metropolitan desegregation lawsuit settlement agreement provided for a coordinating council. The council consists of 46 members, equally divided into city and suburban representation. The staff for the council is called the Compact for Educational Opportunity (CEO). The staff is responsible, among other things, for human relations, staff development, recruitment of minority teachers, and resolving complaints of each district.

To date, the racial climate and interracial relations in the suburban schools participating in Chapter 220 have not been fully studied. The 1989-90 and 1990-91 Chapter 220 annual reports do describe, to a limited degree, identified problems and efforts to address racial and cultural relations.

During the last 2 years, there were several human relations problems involving MPS Chapter 220 students in suburban districts. Fights, walkouts, and demonstrations involving MPS Chapter 220 students occurred in Franklin, Brown Deer, and Greendale. Also, a media report in May 1990 identified two racial incidents involving minor skirmishes between white students and black Chapter 220 students in the Menomonee Falls School District. In each instance, the MPS human relations team and/or the CEO team assisted the suburban district in resolving the problem through counseling and meetings with administrators, students, teachers, and parents.

MPS identified the following as underlying tensions between MPS Chapter 220 students and resident suburban students:

- Lack of African-American staff;
- Lack of multicultural curriculum;
- 3. Perceived inequitable treatment;
- 4. Racial slurs and comments:
- Failure to celebrate African-American History month;
- 6. Inadequate recognition of Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday; and
- 7. Lack of organized African-American student unions.²³

Steps have been taken by some districts to address these problems. Franklin hired its own Chapter 220 program administrator and human relations coordinator. Brown Deer has adopted a multicultural, ethnic, and race relations policy and is working toward a multicultural curriculum. Greendale plans to create a new staff position to oversee the Chapter 220 program. Menomonee Falls school officials provided counseling to the students and parents involved in the 1990 racial incidents. The MPS human relations team, which is responsible for helping suburban districts to resolve concerns of Chapter 220 students, also encourages each district to take preventive measures to address human relations issues.

Andrea Whidbee, ombudsperson for the CEO, describes her job as a mediator/arbitrator of Chapter 220 disputes for the 23 suburban school districts and MPS. She monitors pupil-related problems. If there are conflicts that either the city or suburban districts are experiencing, she is responsible for working out

^{17 1}bid.

¹⁸ Transcript, p. 26.

¹⁹ Settlement Agreement, U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Wisconsin, 84-C-877, Sept. 16, 1987, p. 8; George Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Pinanced School Integration in Metropolitan Milwankee" (Wisconsin Policy Research Institute: June 1989), p. 17.

Milwaukee Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1989-90 and 1990-91 (April 1991), pp. 59-60.

^{21 &}quot;Officials Deny Racial Problems in Falls Schools," Waukesha Preeman, May 22, 1990, p. A-3.

²² Milwaukec Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1989-90 and 1990-91, pp. 50-60.

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ Ibid., pp. 59-60.

^{25 &}quot;Officials Deny Racial Problems in Falls Schools," Wankesha Freeman, May 22, 1990, p. A-1.

²⁶ Milwaukee Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1990-91, p. 60.

those problems. Ms. Whidbee admitted that many suburban schools do not have in place a process for resolving complaints. Although this is a problem, she believes attempts are made by districts to resolve them in a fair and equitable manner.

Ms. Whidbee said that Chapter 220 perents are very concerned about quality of education. These concerns have focused on curriculum offerings and different learning styles that their children might need. Some suburban districts have never faced such issues. The conflicts she is most often called upon to resolve are behavior and discipline problems. These problems are many times characterized by statements such as: "Those children cannot learn. Those children are not interested in education. Those children are not sitting still. What is wrong with those children?"

A problem affecting the level of parental involvement is black parents' inadequacy in articulating the educational needs of their children. One of the complaints she receives most often from black parents is the inability of some teachers to work with diverse learning styles and behaviors. In other cases, she said, some of the black students fail to produce because they do not want to exceed the expectations of their peers because it is not "cool" to be intelligent. 32

According to Ms. Whidbee, Chapter 220 students experience a significant degree of isolation because they attend schools where, in most cases, they do not establish any social bonds, unlike children who attend school in their own neighborhood. Ms. Whidbee describes a student's reaction to this prob-

lem: "You know, I want to go to this school, I like what the school has to offer, but I don't have any friends." "4"

Ms. Whichee stated that some steps are being taken by suburban schools to assist districts toward enhancing interracial and cultural experiences. Some of the districts are employing a school-community liaison person to work with MPS transfer students and parents.35 School districts like Shorewood, West Allis, and Menomonee Falls have hired human relation specialists or parent/community liaison persons to assist and resolve student problems associated with desegregation.36 Some of the districts have also established a Host Family Program, which provides an opportunity for interaction between city and suburban families. A host family serves as a surrogate parent for a MPS transfer student whose parents cannot attend a school meeting or activity. Other levels of interaction provided through this program are night-overs by students with the host family during inclement weather.

Susan Phillips, executive director of the Greater Milwaukee Education Trust and a member of the Shorewood School Board, indicated that in 1984 a number of case studies done in conjunction with the 1985 commission study revealed significant racial tensions in some school districts. She reported that Shorewood hired a full-time human relations specialist who has made the human aspect of racial and cultural integration easier. But most important, she said, Shorewood's affirmative human relations efforts have been enhanced by a strong cadre of parents who are committed to integration.

²⁷ Transcript, vol. 1, pp. 37-38.

²⁸ Ibid., pp. 38-39.

²⁹ Ibid., p. 40.

³⁰ Ibid., p. 41.

³¹ Ibid., pp. 41-43.

³² Ihid., p. 44.

³³ Ibid., p. 45.

³⁴ Ibid., p. 45.

³⁵ Ibid., p. 42.

³⁶ Ibid., p. 353; Transcript, vol. II, p. 17.

³⁷ Transcript, vol. II, p. 45.

³⁸ Ibid., p. 8.

^{39 [}bid., p. 17.

⁴⁰ Ibid.

David Hase, president of the Mequon-Thiensville School Board, and Susan Phillips both emphasized the need for more minority biring in the suburban schools. Although Mr. Hase believes the Metropolitan Employment Recruitment Office of the CEO and the suburban districts have been very successful in their hiring efforts, Ms. Phillips suggested that ongoing and more creative efforts are needed in this area.

Superintendents of Whitnall and Whitefish Bay suburban school districts were asked to provide the Advisory Committee information as to how well Chapter 220 is working in their districts, William Hittman of Whitnall and Leroy Rieck of Whitefish Bay said that the Chapter 220 program is progressing well in their respective school districts. During the 1989-90 school year, Whitnali had 280 Chapter 220 transfer students and 60 resident students who were enrolled in MPS specialty schools. Most city transfer students enrolled in Whitnall are Asian. Mr. Hittman stated that Whitnall's high Asian enrollment is due in part to the individualized transportation provided with small vans and station waeons that Asian children prefer over the county bus system. 45 Whitefish Bay had 330 Chapter 220 transfer students and 22 resident students attending MPS specialty schools.

From the information provided by Mr. Hittman, interracial and cultural relations among students, parents, and staff at Whitnall seem to be very good. Although there was no information provided to indicate that the district had established a formal or organized human relations program, good interracial contacts appear to have been established informally. To describe the district's interracial and cultural relations, two black students, Paul Johnson and Donte Fitzgerald of Whitnall, spoke to the Advisory Committee about their school experiences.

Both students are junious who are doing well academically and participate fully in extracurricular activities. Paul Johnson stated:

My mother and I chose Whitnall Middle School because it would be in my best interest, and it would provide me a good education for my future schooling. Another reason I chose Whiteall is that the schools in my neighborhood would not give me a good education, plus they weren't all that safe to go to. My years of attending Whitnell Middle, School were good, so I had the choice of going to the high achool. I chose to go to the high school. . . . Pve made numerous friends that live in the area, which I'm very close to. And if I would recommend a school in the Milwaukee area to go to, I would tell them to go to Whitnail. Because you can meet new people and receive a good education that will be good for college purposes. Even if you go into the lower tracks that they have at Whitnall, they still urge you to take 4 years of math, 4 years of English, 3 years of history, and 4 years of foreign language.

Donte Fitzgerald stated:

I only have good things to say about this school district. I've experienced no racism or discrimination of any kind. As far as education is concerned, I think Whitnell is one of the top schools in the Milwaukee area. They have numerous courses which I feel will be able to prepare me for my college career. The transfer students were expected to do the same work as the resident students. And we also have the same opportunities to stay after school and get extra help. As far as intercultural relationships go, I guess I'd be a good example of this because our prom was last Saturday and I attended the dance with a white girl. . . In my case, I feel completely at home when I'm in the district any time of the day and night. And to sum it all up, I guess, the only thing I regret about attending Whitnall is that I didn't come earlier.

⁴¹ Transcript, vol. I., pp. 201-02; vol. II, p. 10,

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ Treascript, vol. I, pp. 163, 179.

⁴⁴ Ibid., pp. 160, 184, 193.

⁴⁵ Ibid., p. 194.

⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 157.

⁴⁷ Ibid., p. 179.

⁴⁸ Ibid., pp. 179-80.

⁴⁹ Ibić., pp. 183-183.

⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 181.

Dr. Ricck of Whitefish Bay stated that the district is fully committed to the Chapter 220 program and ensuring that it is successfully implemented. In that effort, during the 1988-89 school year the district did a year-long study of the Chapter 220 program at the high school. Surveys were administered to parents, current students, former students, teachers, and community leaders. In addition, discussion groups were held with transfer parents and students. Major findings which emerged from the study included the following:

- Transportation is a source of frustration for parents. Providing buses for extracurricular activities is an expressed need.
- Although parents feel that Whitelish Bay High School provided a challenging course of study, they are not sure that their children are able to receive maximum benefits from it.
- Even though parents indicated that their children feel accepted by Whitefish Bay High School, racial climate still emerged as the largest concern by parents.
- Opportunities for Chapter 220 parents to become involved with the school should be increased.
- Students identified more things that they liked about Whitelish Bay High School than they disliked.
- 6. In general, transfer students feel accepted at Whitefish Bay High School. They tend to identify with all students and feel little pressure to associate with a particular group.
- Over half the respondents indicated that they have experienced negative racial com-

ments or actions from resident students, teachers, or staff, or other transfer students.

8. Students have concerns about minority issues being represented in textbooks and presented in classes. 32

Of the responses, transportation was cited as the most negative part of the Chapter 220 program, followed by racial environment and social interactions.

In an effort to increase the involvement of parents of transfer students in the life of the school district, the district selected two parents during the 1989-90 school year to serve as transfer parent facilitator. During the same school year, a seven-member team from the school district attended a year-long course at Marquette University on improving the Chapter 220 program. A team project was completed in April 1990. Recommendations made by the team included:

- The creation and implementation of an ongoing K-12 committee on multicultural education.
- The definition and dissemination of descriptors stating the district's intent and plan of action to meaningfully address equity and excellence issues for all students.
- The coordination of existing programs in the district to collectively address equity and excellence issues, and
- 4. The adoption of a policy on human dignity. 55

Frieda Curry, president and founder of Parents Concerned About Chapter 220, stated that the organization was formed to represent the educational interests of MPS transfer students. The group has less than 100 members. Ms. Curry said that she is disap-

⁵¹ Ibid., p. 163.

⁵² Ibid., pp. 159-60.

⁵³ Ibid., p. 160.

⁵⁴ Ibid., pp. 160-61.

⁵⁵ Ibid., pp. 161-162.

⁵⁶ Ibid., p. 350.

pointed in the low number of members when there are well over 5,000 city transfer students.

Ms. Curry stated that the number one concern of parents is quality education. Some parents, however, have become disillusioned with the Chapter 220 program because peer isolation and teacher insensitivity have caused their children to have low self-es-

teem. ⁵⁹ She alleged that one of the major problems for Chapter 220 students is the discipline practices of some schools. ⁶⁰

Ms. Curry recommended that each suburban school district establish a parent-community liaison person to assist in providing human relations services.

⁵⁷ Ibid., pp. 355-56

⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 357,

⁵⁹ Poid., pp. 351, 357.

⁶⁰ Ibid., p. 351.

⁶¹ Ibid.

5. Fifteen Years Later—Other Strategies Used to Improve Education

In reaction to dismal educational outcomes, MPS and others in the broader community continue to explore ways to improve the educational performance of minorities. School reform and restructuring have been initiated through various efforts, such as school-based management, which was started 3 years ago, and a school attendance plan developed in 1990 to bring about equity and efficiency in student assignments.

Implementation of school-based management, in which decisionmaking is concentrated in the individual schools rather than in the central office, has been painfully slow.2 The Long-Range Equity Plan that was developed to address inequities in the student assignment process and maintain the benefits of the past 12 years of descuregation in Milwaukee was not implemented due to opposition primarily from white parents.' The plan tried not only to streamline and simplify assignment of students, but to reduce busing, give parents more choice in school selection, increase the number of students attending neighborhood schools, and desegregate the 16 city schools with black enrollments of 95 percent or higher." Most recently, the Metropolitan Milwaukee Association of Commerce is paying a consultant to assist the district in its school reform.

Now MPS has placed itself in the forefront of school reform in the area of school choice and the establishment of black male academies. The following provides a brief overview of MPS efforts in each of these areas.

School Choice

School choice has been one of the most talked about educational reforms since the Brown decision. Proponents of choice, who now include liberals as well as conservatives, say it is an effective way to compel school improvement through competitive alternatives. John Chubb, senior fellow at the Brookings Institution, and Terry Moe, a political scientist at Stanford University, coanthored Politics, Markets and America's Schools, in which they espoused dismantling the current public school system and replacing it with a "choice" system in which schools would compete for students, as well as be accountable for their school performance. Critics of choice call it a political gimmick to divert attention from the need to put more money into public schools, especially those serving the poor." The most vocal opposition to the choice concept has come from educators, who argue that giving parents the chance to move their children from school to school will make educational planning difficult, leave some schools with the most difficult students to educate, and threaten the viability of schools because of lost enrollments. At least a dozen States and scores of local school districts now allow parents to choose which public school their children

Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Committee on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, vol. II, p. 12 (hereafter cited as Transcript); Charles V. Willie, Michael J. Alves, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan for Milwauket Public Schools" (Pebruary 1990), p. 1 (hereafter cited as "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan").

² Transcript, vol. II, p. 12.

³ Transcript, vol. 1, p. 108; "School Attendance Plan Evokes Distract," Milemukee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1; "Action on School Plan Too Rushed Parents Say," Milmutkee Journal, Yeb. 28, 1990, p. A-1.

^{4 &}quot;School Attendence Plan Evokes Distrutt," Milwauke: Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1.

^{5 &}quot;Loyalty of Advisor Questioned," Milwauker Journal, Mar. 9, 1992, p. B-1.

^{6 &}quot;Minorities Overwhelmingly Favor Public School Choice," Washington Times, Aug. 24, 1990, p. A-2.

^{7 &}quot;Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Taxes, June 4, 1989, p. A-1.

⁴ Ibid.

will attend, thus abandoning the practice of assigning students to schools on the basis of where they live.

In Wisconsin, through the legislative efforts of State Representative Polly Williams, the State enacted the first law in the Nation that allows low-income children to attend private, nonsectarian schools. President George Bush has called the Williams Choice Plan "the most interesting experiment in education reform" and at one time it was the centerpiece of his plan to become the "education president,"10 Williams' plan is unique because it is the first to channel public funds directly to private schools and the first specifically geared toward lowincome inner-city children.11 The Choice Plan, which was legally challenged by the teachers' unions, the school board, and the State superintendent of education—and bitterly opposed by the Milwaukee chapter of the NAACP-will allow parents of about 1,000 low-income students in Milwaukee to send their children to private schools. The State will pay through a voucher system up to \$1,500 in State education money that previously went to the city's pub-lic school system. ¹² In September 1990 an initial 400 students opted to attend private schools through this parental choice program. 13 According to Governor Tommy Thompson, "the plan allows for choice and competition that will make both the public and private schools much stronger." But Robert Peterkin, the former superintendent of MPs, said the law threatens public education by leaving the city

schools with the hardest-to-educate students and fewer resources.¹⁵

Dr. Howard Fuller, the recently appointed superintendent, proposed to the school board a school reform plan that included increasing parent involvement in school choice decisions within the district. However, this proposal met with some opposition and has been held in abeyance.

In March 1992 the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld the State's 1990 school choice law, which had been challenged by a variety of public school groups. The court, in reversing a State appeals court decision, ruled that the law does not violate the doctrine of spending State money for the public good, in part because the private schools benefiting from the vouchers are supervised well enough "to attain the public purpose of improving educational quality." The legal battle over the law will be closely watched by teacher's unions and conservative groups, who view it as a possible precursor to a Federal judicial battle over the constitutionality of such "voucher" programs.

What are the implications of school choice for desegregation? Opponents equate choice with elitism or discrimination. They are concerned that some parents may abuse their right to select a school as a way of avoiding racial integration. Some proponents of choice say that it may in fact enhance racial integration, as many desegregation plans used by school districts were designed around the concept of school choice to promote voluntary racial desegregation. MPS's specialty schools, although enhancing deseg-

e Thid

^{10 &}quot;The Polly Williams Backlash," Wall Street Journal, June 14, 1990, p. A-14; "Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Times Issue 4, 1989, p. A-1.

 [&]quot;Wisconsin Tries Voucher Plan," Chicago Tribune, Apr. 1, 1990, B-3.

^{12 &}quot;School Choice for Minorities Gaining Support," Weshington Times, Oct. 25, 1990, p. A-3; "Toe Polly Williams Backlash," Wall Street Journal, June 14, 1990, p. A-14.

^{13 &}quot;School Choice for Minorities Gaining Support," Washington Times, Oct. 26, 1990, p. A.3.

^{14 &}quot;Milwaukee Payents Get More Choice in Schools," New York Times, Mar. 28, 1990, p. C-1.

¹⁵ Ibid.

^{16 &}quot;Fuller Offers Do-or-Die Way to Fix Schools," Milwaukee Journal, Aug. 6, 1991, p. B-1.

¹⁷ Davis v. Grover, 480 N.W.2d, 460 (Wis. 1992).

¹⁸ Mat 463.

^{19 &}quot;School-Choice Law in Wisconsin Upheld by State High Court," Wall Street Journal, Mar. 6, 1992, p. A-10.

^{20 &}quot;About Education: The Right to Choose a School, A Piller of Democracy or an Invitation to Elitism?" New York Times, Mar. 29, 1989, p. A-2.

^{21 &}quot;Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Tierrs, June 4, 1989, p. A-L

regation to some degree, have also created inequities by race and socioeconomic status for participation in these programs.²² Although choice extends options to the poor that the wealthy already have, it may also polarize educational systems into strong and weak schools and foster a new form of segregation by social class and previous success in school.²³

One of the considerations that this issue raises is: What is to be done about the children left behind, who probably need good schools the most but, because their parents are absent, uninformed, or indifferent, are left in the weak schools?²⁴ Donald Moore, executive director of a Chicago research organization, Designs for Change, studied magnet schools in Boston, Chicago, New York, and Philadelphia. A New York Times article quoting him stated:

"Magnet schools attract the best teachers and often get additional funds," he said, "and middle-class families of all races figure out which schools are the best and end up getting their kids in those schools. This leaves the vast majority of families out in the cold.".... While the theory holds that magnet schools will inspire all schools to become better, the improvements do not help low-schieving students. "The reality is that principals will create new programs for high-achieving students in order to keep them from going elsewhere." he said, "but they aren't interested in keeping the sest."

Mr. Moore acknowledged that a school choice plan can be a moderately effective incentive for schools to improve but only if it is tied into an overall strategy for improving all schools. In recognizing the possible adverse effect school choice may have upon integration, some States (such as Minnesota, Iowa, Arkansas, Nebraska, Ohio, Utah, and Idaho) offer choice plans that take race into account.

Dr. John Witte, of the University of Wisconsin-Madison, was appointed by the State department of public instruction to evaluate MPS's parental choice program. A preliminary report on the program was completed in November 1991. The report focused on school selection, program dynamics, parental involvement, a preliminary analysis of educational outcomes, and recommendations. The report is very preliminary because of the short time the program had been in operation, uncertainties surrounding continuance of the program because of legal challenges, and the small number of students participating (34i). The educational outcomes reported after the first year were mixed. Achievement test scores did not register dramatic gains, and the participating students remained approximately equal to low-income students in MPS. Student attendance, parental attitudes toward choice schools, and parental involvement were all positive. Attendance was slightly higher than in the average elementary school in MPS, and parental evaluations of the new schools were much more positive than of the former schools. The basic recommendation made was to continue the program for at least several more years so it could be assessed more fully.

Black Male Schools

In recent years, some urban districts with large black populations have begun to establish separate schools or classes aimed exclusively at black male students. Milwaukee, Chicago, Detroit, and Baitimore were among the jurisdictions moving ahead with plans to put black males in an Afrocentric curriculum as a way of steering them from the self-destructive path that has led many to illiteracy, drugs, prison, and early death. The establishment of black male academies has attracted national attention and

^{22 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," p. vi; Mitchell Report, p. 3.

^{23 &}quot;Wave of Fenure: A Choice of Schools," New York Times, June 4, 1989, p. A-1.

^{24 &}quot;Skimming the Cream Off Schools," New York Times, July 25, 1991, p. A-2.

^{25 &}quot;Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Tieses, June 4, 1989, p. A-1.

²⁶ Shid.

^{27 &}quot;States That Allow A Choice of Schools," New York Times, Dec. 19, 1990, p. A-3.

²⁸ John F. Witte, "The First Year Report, Milwaukee Parental Choice Program" (prepared for the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, November 1991).

²⁹ Poid., p. iv, pp. 1-2.

^{30 &}quot;School Geared to Black Boya Attract Girls," Washington Times, Sept. 3, 1991, p. A-3; "Black School Plan Too Risky," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 14, 1987, p. B-1.

is criticized as an illegal throwback to the days of segregated schools. Critics also complain that students will emerge from school ill-equipped to survive in the mainstream. 31

Dr. Kenneth Clark, whose pioneering research into the deleterious effects of segregation on black children helped sway Supreme Court opinion in the Brown decision, says projects like the one established for MPS promote the resegregation of American schools, and countermand the Supreme Court decision in Brown that struck down separate but equal schools. He goes on to say:

I read about these things and I can't believe that we're actually regressing like this. . . This is contrary to everything that we were lighting against and everything that the research says about the benefits of learning black and white, male and female together. Even military schools today are coeducational. So why are we talking about segregating and stigmatizing black makes?

A lawsuit filed by the American Civil Liberties Union and the National Organization for Women's Legal Defense and Education Fund forced Detroit to allow girls to enroll in its special "academies" for black males. ³³ However, President Bush declared his support for all-male educational programs for black youths and said he would support efforts to make such curricula legal if the Federal courts found them to be otherwise. ³⁴

This is not the first time that MPS has considered separate schools for blacks. In 1987 some prominent black leaders declared their frustration with desegregation and the bleak academic achievement of black students and proposed making nine already black schools into a separate and autonomous school district.³⁵ This particular effort failed but apparently

still continues to be a viable option to some in the community.

The two new African American immersion academies in MPS were established in September 1991 in response to the deteriorating status of black maies in the schools.36 The basis for this concern was that of the approximately 5,716 black males enrolled in MPS, less than 20 percent had cumulative grade point averages of 2.0 or higher. During 1989-90 black males were 27.6 percent of the student population but 50 percent of the students suspended, and a staggeringly high dropout and low high school graduation rate had some young black males leaving school even at the elementary level. 37 In January 1990 MPS assembled a task force to study district programs affeeting the life chances of its black male population. The task force studied the areas of student achievement, self-esteem, community involvement, school climate, and the family. The task force recommended that schools be established to address the special needs of black males.

The adoption of black male schools was criticized by various groups. The national and local NAACP said that schools that segregate black males are wrong and probably illegal. The Milwaukee Teacher's Education Association came out against the provision that the teaching staff be predominately male and black. The local teachers' union demanded that 75 percent of the teachers at these schools be white, in accordance with the desegregation guidelines that limit the percentage of minority teachers in school buildings. Three of MPS's eight school board members opposed the black male school proposal, contending that isolation of students by race is unconstitutional and educationally unsound.

^{31 &}quot;A Throwback to Segregation," New York Times, Jan. 22, 1991, p. A-1.

³² Charles Whitaker, "Do Black Males Need Special Schools!" Ebooy, March 1991, p. 18.

³³ Ibid.; "Black Immersion Schools: Can Separate Education Succeed?" Milwauker Journal, Nov. 8, 1990, p. A-1.

^{34 &}quot;Bush Books All-Male Academies for Black Youths," Kanns City Star, Sept. 10, 1991, p. A-4.

^{35 &}quot;Black Leaders Want Own School District," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 12, 1987, p. A-1; "Black School District Plan Too Risky," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 14, 1987, p. B-1.

³⁶ African American Male Task Force, Milwaukee Public School, Educating African American Males: A Dream Deferred, May 1990, p. i.

³⁷ Ibid., p. i, p. 2.

³⁸ Ibid., p. ix, p. 5.

^{39 &}quot;Black Immersion Schools: Can Separate Education Succeed?" Militaruther Journal, Nov. 8, 1990, p. A-1.

^{40 &}quot;School Geared to Black Boys Attracts Clirk," Washington Times, Sept. 3, 1991, p. A-3.

MPS officials stated that they had always planned to open these schools to all students to comply with antidiscrimination laws, but the curriculum would revolve around African American heritage and the educational, social, and emotional needs of black males. To a September 26, 1990, the school board voted 5-3 to open two African American immersion academies during the 1991-92 school year for up to 1,300 students at the elementary and middle school level.

Ken Holt, a Milwaukee principal and cochair of the African American male task force, stated that desegregation had not helped black students in MPS, especially in academic areas, nor had it produced the benefits expected from integration. 4 Therefore, he contends that there is a need to explore different and more supportive educational systems for black males because the present system has destroyed them.

An evaluation committee has been established to monitor and assess the implementation of the program and its progress. Dr. Diane Pollard, of the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, who is chair of the evaluation team, stated that the focus of the evaluation will be program implementation and educational outcomes from qualitative and quantitative bases. Program implementation will be the first component evaluated. Feedback on how well the program operated will be provided to the district by the end of the 1991-92 school year.

^{41 &}quot;All-Black School Plan Gets Praise," Washington Times, Aug. 23, 1991, p. A-1.

⁴² Transcript, vol. L. p. 219; "School Geared to Black Boys Attracts Girls," Washington Times, Sept. 3, 1991, p. A-3.

^{43 &}quot;Black Immersion Schools: Can Separate Education Succeed?" Milwaukee Journal, Nov. 8, 1990, p. A-1.

⁴⁴ Transcript, vol. 1, pp. 226-27.

⁴⁵ Charles Whiteker, "Do Black Males Need Special Schools?" Efforcy, March 1991, p. 22.

⁴⁶ African American Male Task Force, Mijwankee Public Schools, Educating African American Males: A Decam Deferred, May 1990, p. 31.

⁴⁷ Diane Pollard, associate professor, Department of Educational Psychology, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, telephone interview, Oct. 22, 1991.

6. Implications of Housing Patterns Upon School Integration

Housing segregation is one of the factors continually referred to as causing or reinforcing separation of blacks and whites. Like most urban centers, Milwaukee is separated into distinct groups living increasingly in isolation from each other. There is a growing separation between the poor and the affluent, between the well educated and the poorly educated, and between racial and ethnic groups. The racial, economic, and social stratification of living arrangements in Milwaukee are similarly mirrored in the schools. Although this problem is not new or unknown, the Wisconsin Advisory Committee wishes to document briefly the progress made in this area as well as problems that continue to exist.

A study, "Hypersegregation in U.S. Metropolitan Areas: Black and Hispanic Segregation Along Five Dimensions," conducted in 1989 by Dr. Douglas Massey at the University of Chicago, identified Milwaukee as one of nine cities that are "hypersegregated," meaning that the metropolitan area had an extreme level of residential segregation. Similarly, in the schools, in 1991 Wisconsin was ranked as the seventh most segregated State for black students by the National School Boards Association. Three-quarters (75.3 percent) of black students were enrolled in segregated educational settings. Because most of the State's black population is in Milwaukee, the findings inferred that schools in Milwaukee are just as segregated or more.

The relationship between school desegregation and housing segregation is complex and irrevocably tied. Gary Orfield in *The Closing Door* concluded:

there are powerful relationships between residential segregation and the quality of education, the quality of housing. the availability of jobs, and income level. . . . Residential sogregation remains a fundamental underlying feature of urban racial inequality in this period after the abolition of the old system of de jure racial discrimination. Although it is not illegal for the government to treat blacks and whites differently, extremely different levels of education are routinely provided to predominantly black and white communities and maintained by residential separation. It is particularly easy to discriminate when black and white areas are separated by municipal and school district boundaries. A wide variety of public and private institutions treat these black and white communities differently, producing consequences that may be as severe as those produced by de jure segregation. . . Successful social policy will have to have a racial as well as an economic dimension recognizing the impact of the highly segregated metropolitan society. Separate urban societies remain profoundly unequal and a policy seeking greater equality must directly attack the colorline and its continuing consequences.

Milwaukee and the metropolitan region have always had a highly segregated housing pattern, and it remains so today. In 1984 when MPS sued the State and 24 suburban school districts, it claimed that the defendants' policies and practices encouraged racial segregation in Milwaukee housing and schools, causing inequality of educational opportunity in the metropolitan area. Evidence was presented by legal experts and social scientists showing the actions taken by the housing industry and public agencies to foster segregated housing through zoning ordinances, racially restrictive covenants, and segregated subsidized housing projects. In 1987, when a settlement agree-

^{1 &}quot;Hyperagregation in U.S. Metropolitan Areas: Black and Hispanic Segregation Along Five Dimensions," Demography, 1989.

² National School Boards Association, "Status of School Desegregation: The Next Generation," Jan. 1991; "The Nation's Schools Learns A 4th R: Resegregation," New York Times, Jan. 19, 1992.

³ Thid.

⁴ Gary Orfield and Carole Ashkiman. The Closing Door, Communitive Policy and Black Opportunity (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991), p. 12.

⁵ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990. Transcript, vol. 3. p. 18 (bereafter cited as Transcript); "Experts Credibility Attacked in School Trial," Milwaukee Journal, May 5, 1987, p. B-1.

^{6 &}quot;Agencies Backed Housing Segregation, Export Says," Milwaukee Journal, Apr. 29, 1987, p. B-2.

ment was reached, among the obligations set forth between the parties were housing initiatives to promote residential integration in the city and the suburbs.⁷

In response to this commitment through the funding of the Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development Authority (WHEDA), the Metropolitan Milwankee Fair Housing Council established the Center for Integrated Living (CIL) in 1989, CIL's purpose is to promote and expand housing choices for homeseckers of all races throughout the fourcounty area." In this effort, CIL assisted persons interested in moving to an area where their race was underrepresented." Because CIL was formed as an outgrowth of the school desegregation settlement, recruitment of Chapter 220 families was a priority. CIL is the only housing program in Milwaukee that primarily promotes pro-integration moves.10 In Sentember 1991, however, program funding for CIL expired. William Tisdale, the executive director, indicated that program services have been suspended until additional funds are received. With the suspension of funds, the Fair Housing Council is also unable to file lawsuits for housing discrimination. A proposal was submitted to WHDEA, which was expected to make a decision shortly on funding. Mr. Tisdale also stated that along with WHDEA funds, additional financing from other sources will be needed to operate the program effectively.

The initiatives inaplemented by the Fair Housing Council over the past 3 years were:

Hossing, Counseling and Recruitment. Recruit and provide counseling services to persons interested in making pro-integration moves. Mortgage Ioan Amistance Program. Provide loans that carry interest rates, point requirements and down payments which are more advantageous than is available in the traditional market.

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program. Provide a 15 percent tax credit incentive to developers to build bousing in areas promoting racial integration.

Tenant Service Project. Establish a special tenant services pilot project for residents located in targeted areas within the city to encourage students to stay in school. The project will be a public-private partnership involving project owners, parents and private sector volunteers.

Since the program's inception in September 1989. through August 1991, 732 clients have participated in the CIL program. CIL's clients have been 98 percent minority and 2 percent nonminority. Females head 62 percent of CIL client households. The majority, 72 percent, does not have a rent subsidy; only 28 percent have used vouchers, certificates, or subsidized housing. Of the minority households, 8 percent have used the CIL services as homebuyers, 92 percent as renters. Of the nonminority households, 22 percent are homebuyers and 78 percent are renters. Among households making pro-integrative moves, 80 percent located within the city and 20 percent outside the city. Seventy percent of these households were black, 11 percent Hispanic, 11 percent Aslan, 4 percent Native American, and 4 percent nonminority.

Sixty percent of all minority households that moved within the Milwaukee metropolitan area after

⁷ Scitlement Agreement, 84-C-877, U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Wisconsin, Scot. 15, 1917, app. D.

⁸ Fact Shocts on Center for Integrated Living provided by Milwauker Fair Housing Council, June 1991, p. 1.

o Thid

¹⁰ Richard Imagabaugh, executive director, Wisconsin Housing and Bounomic Development Authority, telephone interview, Nov. 1, 1991.

¹¹ William Tisdale, executive director, Milwauker Fair Housing Council, telephone interview, Mar. 12, 1992.

¹² Settlement Agreement, app. D.

¹³ Metropolitan Milwauker Fair Housing Council, Inc., Annual Report, November 1991, p. 5.

receiving assistance from the CIL program located housing outside minority areas (defined as 85 percent or more minority), even though 67 percent of all minority households resided in minority areas when they entered the program. This statistic includes those who moved to nonminority neighborhoods (areas 85 percent or more nonminority) as well as stably integrated areas (any areas between 16 and 84 percent minority-nonminority mix).

Households that had children participating in the Chapter 220 interdistrict program were assisted by the CIL program in moving to the suburbs within the four-county metropolitan area. Eleven children in these households no longer participate in the Chapter 220 program, as they now attend their suburban district school. By assisting these 11 children in making nontraditional moves, the CIL program has saved the State of Wisconsin a total of \$356,827, or over \$30,000 per child. The saving in State aid to the suburban districts is \$63,611.

Through the tax credit program, CIL allocated approximately \$1 million in Federal low-income housing credits to investors and developers. This money was allocated to encourage the development of racially and economically integrated housing opportunities throughout the metropolitan area. This effort has resulted in construction of five apartment communities in the south side of the city of Milwaukee, the city of South Milwaukee, Saukville, and West Bend. In 1990, 212 units were constructed, with 166 of these units in suburban communities. CIL received a total of over \$2 million in proposals to build pro-integrated housing. However, officials of

the Milwankee Fair Housing Council state that State and Federal rules have hampered their efforts. They contend that the criteria used by government agencies to allocate tax credits unfairly favor housing projects in the county.

Although CIL's efforts appear to have had only a limited influence on housing integration, without the program, the gains that have been made since 1989 would not have been possible. The city of Milwankee, with a population of 628,088, was 30.5 percent black in 1990, up from 23.1 percent in 1980. The four-county suburban area surrounding the city (Milwankee, Ozaukee, Washington, and Wankesha Counties), with a population of 1,432,149, was 13.8 percent black in 1990. MPS had a 1990-91 enrollment of 99,233 students, 57.1 percent black, in comparison to 55.2 percent the preceding school year.

Some say CIL's efforts have been hampered by a slow beginning and staff changes. But this may be due to the lackluster government and private support in implementing and sustaining such an innovative housing program. Moreover, the program needs an opportunity to succeed under more realistic goals. Funding for 3 years is not sufficient time to overcome institutionalized housing segregation. In spite of the limited effect of housing initiatives upon school desegregation, housing is the principal alternative offered by school officials and community leaders for alleviating the problems associated with school desegregation. For some, there is limited optimism that this will ever occur. This is evident by rejection in 1990 by most of the 25 suburbs of a voluntary effort to locate low- and moderate-income

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ Ibid., pp. 5-6.

¹⁶ Ibid., p. 6.

¹⁷ Ibid.

LE 1bid.

^{19 &}quot;Government Rules Hamper Draegregation, Officials Say," Milnoukeo Journal, May 25, 1990, p. B-3.

²⁰ Census of Population and Housing, 1990; Statistical Abstract of the United States, 1982-83 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1984), pp. 18, 23.

²¹ Data provided by the Southeastern Regional Planning Countil of Wisconsin, Nov. 4, 1991.

²² Data provided by Gary Peterann, coordinator of research, Milwaukee Public Schools, Apr. 13, 1992; Milwaukee Public Schools State Aid Report, Sept. 15, 1989, p. 1.

²³ Transcript, vol. I, p. 152.

²⁴ Ibid., vol. I, pp. 17, 30, 77-85, 105, 123, 150-51, 204, 312; vol. If, pp. 5, 7, 9.

public housing in their communities. Shorewood school district and Whitelish Bay are the only municipalities that indicated a willingness to participate. Also in 1990 the Milwaukee County Board's

Housing and Community Development Committee voted to delay action on enacting a housing discrimination ordinance.²⁶

²⁵ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 152-53, 304-05; "Officials Byc Strategies to Desegregate Suburbs," The Milwaukes Continuedty Journal, May 2, 1990, p. 1; "Housing Lawselt Considered," Milwaukes Journal, May 31, 1991, p. A-1.

^{26 &}quot;County Back Paddles on Housing Bias Law," The Milwaukee Community Journal, June 13, 1990, p. 1; "Housing Ordinance Hits Snag," Milwaukee Journal, June 7, 1990, p. B-3.

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

Within the last 15 years, Milwaukee has made significant progress towards abolishing segregation of the races in the public schools through both the intradistrict and interdistrict desegregation programs, but clearly these efforts must continue as desegregation has not been fully accomplished, nor the results hoped for fulfilled. Some believed that desegregation would improve education for blacks, provide equal educational resources and services, moderate racial views, and prepare students for living in a phralistic society. Instead, grades and test scores of black students have declined, disciplinary actions and dropout rates have increased, and racial attitudes have polarized.

Although attempts at school desegregation have not worked according to the designs of the Brown decision, other factors such as poverty, joblessness, and poor housing have complicated what is a relatively straightforward instrument of social justice for black school children. It is important to note the powerful contemporary barriers that deny the results anticipated. Educational outcomes for black students would not be in such decline had economic and housing opportunities been on the upswing during the period desegregation was attempted. Had desegregation been implemented while Milwaukec's black community was participating in an expanding citywide economic boom, then the outcomes might have been different Racial barriers operating through the housing market and through unequal education attached to residential locations have also not been significantly challenged.

There are some who recognize the value of quality integrated education but who despair of achieving it because of the practical difficulties involved. They examine the school integration problem and conclude that it cannot be accomplished knowing that strenuous efforts within and outside the education system are required to transform schools into truly integrated ones. As measured by objective criteria such as achievement scores, numerical racial balance

among students, and human relations, quality integrated education certainly has not been reached in Milwaukee, and some would suggest it has regressed.

However, an argument can be made that, even though academic achievement levels have not closed between whites and blacks, we cannot assume that there is a causal relationship between desegregation and low achievement levels. At the same time, one might conclude that in the absence of the desegregation efforts, these gaps would have been even larger. That many parents, leaders, and administrators believe desegregation has not worked, or that "quality education" is mutually exclusive of desegregation, does not necessarily make it so.

The demographic and sociological situation of race relations points dramatically to the conclusion that Milwankee, if not already, will regress back to an earlier stage in civil rights if school desegregation efforts are not continued and other racial barriers related to housing and job opportunities are not challeneed.

The national expectations may have been overly optimistic in thinking that desegregation could provide the results hoped for in a short time frame in communities plagued by institutional racism. There is ample evidence to demonstrate, however, that, in those systems where a conscientious and intelligent attempt was made within and outside the system to make the process work, significant results have been achieved.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are submitted under the provisions of section 703.2(e) of the Commission's regulations, empowering the Advisory Committee to initiate and forward advice and recommendations to the Commission upon matters that the State Committee has studied.

Recommendation 1

The Advisory Committee strongly orges the Milwau-

⁴⁵ C.F.R. \$703.2(c) (1991).

kee community and the surrounding suburbs to continue their efforts to desegregate the schools through the intradistrict and interdistrict desegregation programs. Although the interdistrict voluntary student transfer program (Chapter 220) expires in July 1993, this program should be continued to ensure sustained racial and cultural integration in the Milwaukee metropolitan area. This effort should include monitoring and periodic evaluations of progress made by both programs.

Recommendation 2

Leadership and community participation is needed to regain support for integration efforts in the schools. Leadership is needed from local and State school officials, local governments, and business and civic groups. In such a situation, there is a need for community organizations such as the Greater Milwaukee Education Trust and the Coordinating Council of the Compact for Educational Opportunity to provide support to the formal school structure and coordinate voluntary community efforts in support of desegregation.

Recommendation 3

The Milwaukee community should strengthen and expand programs that contribute to housing integration. The housing initiatives established under the settlement agreement should be adequately funded and continued through the Milwaukee Fair Housing Council and become a vital part of the strategy to enhance metropolitan residential desegregation and thereby maximize school integration.

Recommendation 4

There is solid evidence showing the long-term benefits of attending desegregated schools, such as success in college and job opportunities, but such effects for Milwaukee students have not been sufficiently studied. Therefore, an extensive study of the intradistrict and interdistrict desegregation programs should be done to assess the educational effects of desegregation and to locate ways in which policymakers can intervene to make desegregation work more effectively. This should also include a longitudinal study to determine the long-term effects on minority and nonminority students educated in integrated settings versus those who are not.

Appendix A

Public Schools in Metropolitan Milmaukee*

<u>School District</u> Brookfield/Elabrook Grawn Deer Coderburg Cudahy Erin (No. 2) fox Point (No. 2) Franklin Germantour Glendele/Micolet Unified H.S. Glendals-River Hills Grafton Greendele Greenfield Hamilton Wartford Nartford (No. 1) Nersford United H.S. Hartland/Arrowhead Hart(and/Lakeside (No. 3) Kewaskus Lisbon (No. 2) Memomonee Falls Meason-Thieneville Herton (No. 4) Herton (No. 7) Herton (No. 9) HIL WALKEE Ник моглеро-Hus kego-Horney New Berlin Nerris Northern Ozeukee Out Creek-Franklin Оселоженов Pensukee Port Washington Richfield (No. 1) Michfield (No. 11) St. Francis Shorewood Slinger South Hiluaukee Val es-Dousénen (Kettle Morgine) Vjukesha Vermetoss West Aills-West Milwarket West Bend Unitatish Bay **U**hitmall

1990 Regident Fogulation Data for Metropolitan Counties in Milwukes**							
	Blank	¥	Total				
Ni Lucukeu	195,470	20.4	959,275				
Vaukesha	1,096	0.4	304,715				
Özeukee	492	0,7	72,531				
Veshington	125	0.1	95,328				
Grand Total	197,183	13,8	1,432,149				

*Metropolitan Milwaukee includes Milwaukee, Ozaukee, Washington & Waukesha Counties.

SOURCE: <u>Wisconsin Public School Directory</u>, 1989-90 Wisconson Department of Public Instruction.

**1990 Census data for 4-area counties comprising metropolitan Milwaukes.

SOURCE: Southeastern Regional Planning Council, Nov. 4, 1991.

Appendix B

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 2300 North Martin Luther King Drive Milwaukee, Wisconsin

IMPACT OF SCHOOL DESEGREGATION UPON QUALITY EDUCATION FOR MINORITY STUDENTS IN THE MILWAUKEE PUBLIC SCHOOLS....15 YEARS LATER

May 22-23, 1990

AGENDA

9:30 a.m.	OPENING REMARKS Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson Wisconsin Advisory Committee Melvin L. Jenkins, Director Central Regional Division, USCCR
9:45 a.m.	HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF SCHOOL DESEGREGATION IN MPSJohn J. Petersburs, Secretary/Business Manager Milwaukee Public Schools
10:10 a.m.	STATEMENTS ON DESECREGATION AND QUALITY EDUCATION FOR MINORITY STUDENTS George Mitchell The Mitchell Company, Inc. Educational Consultant
10:35 a.m.	Dr. John Witte Department of Political Science University of Wisconsin-Madison
11:00 a.m.	Dr. Howard Fuller, Director Milwaukee County Department of Health and Human Services
11:25 a.m.	EDUCATORS PERSPECTIVESC. Richard Nelson, Deputy Superintendent Wisconsin Department of Public Education

11:50 a.m.	Dr. Robert Peterkin, Superintendent Milwaukee Public Schools
12:15 р.ш.	Joyce Mallory Milwaukee School Board
12։35 թ.m.	LUNCH
1:35 p.m.	William Jenkins, President Coordinating Council for Chapter 220
2:00 p.m.	Gerald Vance, Director Compact for Educational Opportunity
2:25 p.m.	Dr. Lercy Rieck, Superintendent Whitefish Bay School District
2:50 p.m.	William R. Hittman, Superintendent Whitmall School District
3:15 p.m.	David Hase, President Mequon-Thiesville School Board
3:40 p.m.	Kenneth Holt, Principal Alexander Bell Middle School Chairperson, African American Male Task Forc
4:05 p.m.	Donald Fielbach, President Milwaukee Teachers Education Association
	BUSINESS PERSPECTIVE
4:35 p.m.	Wesley L. Scott, Consultant Urban Affairs Milwaukee Chamber of Commerce
	POLITICAL PERSPECTIVES
5:00 р.ш.	Annette (Polly) Williams State Legislator
5:25 p.m.	RECESS

POLITICAL PERSPECTIVES (Cont'D) 7:00 p.m. --Carl Mueller Chief of Staff Mayor's Office of Milwaukee COMMUNITY PERSPECTIVES 7:25 p.m. --Felmers Chaney, President National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Milwaukee Branch --Lauri Wynn National Association for the Advencement of Colored People, Milwaukee Branch -- Miguel Berry, President 7:40 p.m. Mexican American Society 8:05 p.m. --Frieda Curry, President Parents Concerned About Chapter 220 8:30 p.m. RECESS WEDNESDAY, MAY 23, 1990 OPENING REMARKS 9:30 a.m. --Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson Wisconsin Advisory Committee COMMUNITY PERSPECTIVES (Cont'd) 9:45 a.m. -- Susan Phillips, Executive Director Greater Milwaukee Education Trust 10:10 a.m. --Andrea Whidbee, Ombudsman Compact for Educational Opportunity 10:35 a.m. -- Karen Mietus, President Parent Teachers Association (FTA) 11:00 a.m. -- Chia Theo, Executive Director Hmong/American Friendship Association, Inc. 11:25 a.m. OPEN SESSION 12:00 p.m. ADJOURNMENT

Impact of School Desegregation in Milwaukee Public Schools on Quality Education for Minorities..... 15 Years Later

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights

August 1992

A report of the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights prepared for the information and consideration of the Commission. This report will be considered by the Commission and the Commission will make public its reaction. In the meanwhile, the findings and recommendations of this report should not be attributed to the Commission but only to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee.



The United States Commission on Civil Rights

The United States Commission on Civil Rights, first created by the Civil Rights Act of 1957, and recatablished by the United States Commission on Civil Rights Act of 1983, is an independent, bipartisan agency of the Federal Government. By the terms of the 1983 act, the Commission is charged with the following duties pertaining to discrimination or denials of the equal protection of the laws based on race, color, religion, sex, age, handicap, or national origin, or in the administration of justice: investigation of individual discriminatory denials of the right to vote; study of legal developments with respect to discrimination or denials of the laws and policies of the United States with respect to discrimination or denials of equal protection of the law; maintenance of a national clearinghouse for information respecting discrimination or denials of equal protection of the law; and investigation of patterns or practices of fraud or discrimination in the conduct of Federal elections. The Commission is also required to submit reports to the President and the Congress at such times as the Commission, the Congress, or the President shall deem desirable.

The State Advisory Committees

An Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights has been established in each of the 50 States and the District of Columbia pursuant to section 105(c) of the Civil Rights Act of 1957 and section 6(c) of the United States Commission on Civil Rights Act of 1983. The Advisory Committees are made up of responsible persons who serve without compensation. Their functions under their mandate from the Commission are to: advise the Commission of all relevant information concerning their respective States on matters within the jurisdiction of the Commission; advise the Commission on matters of mutual concern in the preparation of reports of the Commission to the President and the Congress; receive reports, suggestions, and recommendations from individuals, public and private organizations, and public officials upon matters pertinent to inquiries conducted by the State Advisory Committee; initiate and forward advice and recommendations to the Commission upon matters in which the Commission shall request the assistance of the State Advisory Committee; and attend, as observeers, any open hearing or conference that the Commission may hold within the State.

Impact of School Desegregation in Milwaukee Public Schools on Quality Education for Minorities..... 15 Years Later

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights

August 1992

A report of the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the United States Commission on Civil Rights prepared for the information and consideration of the Commission. This report will be considered by the Commission and the Commission will make public its reaction. In the meanwhile, the findings and recommendations of this report should not be attributed to the Commission but only to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee.

Letter of Transmittal

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights

Members of the Commission Arthur A. Fletcher, Chairman Charles Pei Wang, Vice Chairman William B. Allen Carl A. Anderson Mary Frances Berry Esther G. Buckley Blandina Cardenas Ramirez Russell G. Redenbaugh

Wilfredo J. Gonzalez, Staff Director

The Wisconsin Advisory Committee submits this report of its review of Milwankee school desegregation and its impact upon quality education for minorities. The Advisory Committee voted to to approve submission of this report to you.

The Advisory Committee held a community forum on May 22-23, 1990, to gather information on efforts to desegregate the Milwaukee Public Schools (MPS) and the impact of these efforts upon quality education. Twenty-three persons appeared before the Committee to provide information and points of view related to this issue. Those invited to participate included educators from MPS, suburban school districts, State officials, elected officials, community and business groups, students and parents. Those persons who participated in the forum were given an opportunity to comment on relevant sections of the report. Where appropriate, comments and corrections indicated by them have been incorporated into the final report.

The education of minority students has emerged as the overriding concern in public education, and it may top the national education agenda well into the next century. Similarly, it is a top priority in the city of Milwaukee where racial minority students have become the majority population, and school desegregation the force driving the operations of the schools. Since 1976 MPS has been struggling and to some degree progressing in its many efforts to desegregate the schools. Although there has been some progress, the educational outcomes for minority students that were hoped for have been unsatisfactory and, according to some, a complete failure. Fifteen years later, MPS is still grappling with how to deal with the competing demands of desegregation and quality education. Thus, the argument intensifies that resources should be diverted from desegregation and committed to improving the quality of education, and others argue that the enhancement of quality does not justify reduction of integration. From this debate, other strategies to improve educational quality have sparked the establishment of black male academics and the parental choice program allowing for the first time low-income inner-city children to attend private, nonsectarian schools at public expense. This report documents the divergent

views and opinions on these issues and the efforts underway to enhance educational opportunities for minorities.

Respectfully,

Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson

Wisconsin Advisory Committee

Wisconsin Advisory Committee

Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson Madison

Ruth B. Bauman Oconto Falls

Shirley D. Harrison Milwaukee

Geraldine McFadden Milwaukee

Jasjit S. Minhas Hayward

Willie J. Nunnery Madison Candice Owley
Milwaukee

Kimberly Shankman Ripon

Dr. Gregory D. Squires Milwankee

Rev. William C. Wantland Eau Claire

Federico Zaragoza Milwaukec

Acknowledgments

The Wisconsin Advisory Committee wishes to thank the staff of the Commission's Central Regional Office for its help in the preparation of this summary report. The summary report was the principal assignment of Farella E. Robinson, with support from Jo Ann Daniels. The project was carried out under the overall supervision of Melvin L. Jenkins, Director, Central Regional Office.

Contents

1. Introduction City and County Demographics Education Demographics The Setting	'
2. A Context for Examining the Impact of School Desegregation Upon Quality Education for Minority Students Chronology of Desegregation in Metropolitan Milwaukee	
3. School Desegregation and Education Outcomes for Minorities	
4. Human Relations	. 15
5. Fifteen Years Later—Other Strategies Used to improve Education	
6. Implications of Housing Patterns Upon School Integration	27
7. Conclusions and Recommendations	31
Appendix A: Public Schools in Metropolitan Milwaukee,	. 33
Appendix B: Agenda	34

1. Introduction

'n 1954 the Supreme Court of the United States held in Brown v. Board of Education that legally compelled segregation of students by race denied equal protection of the laws as guaranteed by the 14th amendment and the "separate but equal" doctrine was constitutionally impermissible. Although desegregation and quality education were not fied together in Brown, tangible results hoped for were not only the equalization of resources and integration of black and white students, but ensuring quality education for black children.2 Opponents of school desegregation have now suggested that the process has affected the quality of education for black students negatively rather than positively. Milwaukee has been grappling with this issue since 1976, and given the continuing controversy in the community surrounding desegregation and quality education, it is appropriate to examine the progress made in meeting these competing demands.

Information was gathered during field investigations and a day and a half community forum. Educators from the city and suburban school districts, State officials, community groups, business groups, parents, and students were invited to participate. The Advisory Committee's analysis of the information gathered during the forum focuses on whether or not the education of minority students, but more expressly black students, has improved under desegregation. This analysis addresses desegregation and educational outcomes, interracial and human relations, the effect of housing patterns upon school desegregation, and other strategies used such as school choice and the development of black maic academies to improve the education of minority children.

City and County Demographics

The U.S. Bureau of the Census statistics for 1990 show that Milwaukee County, which includes most of the surrounding suburbs, has a population of 959,275 persons. In the county, racial and ethnic minorities are 260,411 or 27.1 percent of the population. In the city, racial and ethnic minorities are 269,464 or 42.9 percent of the population. Table 1 shows the racial and ethnic breakdown of persons residing in the county and city of Milwaukee.

Education Demographics

As of September 1991, Milwaukee Public Schools (MPS) had 138 schools with a total student population of 99,233. Of these students, 56,671 (57, percent) are black; 27,216 (27.4 percent) are white; 9,702 (9.8 percent) are Hispanic; 1,155 (1.2 percent) are American Indian; 3,352 (3.4 percent) are Asian; and 1,137 (1.1 percent) are other minorities. This population also includes 5,714 resident students from MPS who attend subarban schools by means of the Chapter 220 program, a voluntary city-suburban student transfer program to enhance racial balance in the suburbs. Blacks represent 71.5 percent of these students, Conversely, via Chapter 220, 873 white suburban students attend school in MPS.

^{1 347} U.S. 483 (1954); U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Statement of the United States Commission on Civil Rights on School Designation (Desember 1962), p. 1.

² Toid., pp. 17-18.

³ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, vol. I, pp. 250, 254-55 (investigat cited as Transcript).

⁴ U.S. Capsus of Population and Housing by Race and Hispanic Origin and Housing Unit County, 1990, Milwankee City and County (February 1991).

⁵ Ibid.

e TLIA

⁷ Data provided by Gary Peterson, coordinator of research, Milwanker Public Schools, Apr. 13, 1992.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Betty Nicholas, Chapter 220 program, Milwaukee Public Schools, telephone interview, Mar. 4, 1992.

TABLE 1 Racial and Ethnic Composition of Milwaukee County and the City of Milwaukee, 1990

	Milwaukee County		City of Milwaukee	
	Total	Undar 18 years	Total 2	Under 18 years
Population	959,275	NA NA	628,088	NA NA
White	698,864	138,591	381,714	71,015
Black	193,583	77,986	189,408	76,866
Amer. Indian, Eskimo, or Aleut	6,291	2,199	5,213	1,867
Asian or Pacific Islander	14,872	5,749	11,429	4,636
Other race	22, 99 4	10,751	21,915	10,695
Hispanic origin (of any race)	44,671	19,027	39,409	17,061

Source: Canada of Population and Housing, 1990: Public Law 94-171 Date.

According to a 1986 study commissioned by the National School Board Desegregation Research Project at the University of Chicago, Wisconsin was the eighth most segregated State for black students in the country. ¹⁰ The study showed that 70.4 percent of black students in Wisconsin were enrolled in segregated schools." The researchers theorized that because most of the State's black population is in Milwankee, it was reasonable to assume that the typical black student in MPS was also similarly segregated." Since that time, a report issued by the National School Board Association in January 1991 indicated that Wisconsin ranked seventh in the Nation for States with the largest percentage of blacks enrolled in schools with 50 to 100 percent minority populations. In Wisconsin, 75.3 percent of black students attended segregated schools. The study further showed that in 1988, under MPS's magnet school plan, 22.9 percent of black students were enrolled in

schools with more than 90 percent minorities and 29.9 percent of whites were enrolled in schools that are mostly attended by blacks.¹³

The amount of integration in the schools has been accomplished through a combination of creation of specialty schools (and concomitant voluntary busing), school closings, forced transfers, mandatory busing, and voluntary student transfers. MPS's desegregation efforts are the subject of controversy due to continuing concern that desegregation is not achieving the desired results of integration and improved education for black students.

The Setting

Efforts to desegregate the schools began in 1976 and include the implementation of the 1979 intradistrict settlement agreement, development of citywide specialty schools and programs, and interdistrict efforts to promote integrated education

^{10 &}quot;State Schools Ranked as 8th Most-Segregated," Milwaukoe Journal, Mas. 24, 1989, p. A-1.

 ¹⁵id.

^{12 1}bid.

¹³ National School Board Association, "Status of School Desegregation: The Next Generation" (January 1991); "The Nation's Schools Learns A 4th R: Resegregation." New York Times, Jan. 19, 1992, p. 8-1.

¹⁴ John F. Witte, "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwaukee" (paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, University of Chicago, Sept. 5, 1986), p. 3.

^{15 [}bid.; George A. Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwaukee" Wisconsin Policy Research Institute, June 1989), p. 4 (hereafter cited as Mitchell Report).

through a voluntary student transfer program with suburban school districts known as Chapter 220. 16 Despite setbacks and unmet expectations in making desegregation a reality, it is important to note some of the early gains made.

Unlike many other urban school systems, following its Federal court order, MPS moved with considerable dispatch in achieving the student and staff racial balance requirements. 17 Relying on the remedies called for in the 1979 intradistrict settlement agreement and a strong system of specialty schools, MPS met or exceeded its court-imposed desegregation goals each year. This was accomplished mostly by intradistrict transfers funded by the Chapter 220 program, and it was accomplished peacefully, without the public turmoil and acrimony that accompanied school desegregation in other cities such as Boston. Chapter 220 was lauded as a model for other school systems, and as the sort of effort that should be considered by other local and State bodies." Since then, these successes have dissipated into dissatisfaction with the educational results of desegregation, which continues today.

This dissatisfaction intensified with the proposal and public dialogue on the "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan" submitted by Dr. Charles V. Willie to address inequities in the intradistrict desegregation plan. Dr. Willie's study of the intradistrict plan found inequities in MPS's student assignment practices that did not allow adequate choice for all

parents, a cumbersome and costly transportation system that placed an undue burden on minority students, and a complicated student assignment plan that maximized educational opportunities for non-minorities but limited them for minorities.²¹ The interdistrict plan or Chapter 220 program was criticized for its costly transportation and the use of unfair screening practices or "creaming" by suburban districts to ensure the admission of only the best city students into suburban schools.²²

For the first time, in March 1990, Milwaukee's Mayor and the Common Council became involved in the interworking of the politically independent school system. In April 1990 Mayor John Norquist called for the abolishment of Chapter 220. He charged that "the program had fragmented black neighborhoods and rather than helping the cause of integration, had promoted segregation along class lines leaving low-income children in traditional, non-specialty schools, while middle class children of both races most likely attend specialty and suburban schools."

In response to this criticism, MPS and the suburban schools joined together in support of Chapter 220 and said that instead of scrapping the program, efforts should be made to concentrate on providing greater quality of education.²⁵ Most recently, Mayor Norquist has called for the replacement of the public school system with a voucher program that allows parents to enroll their children in any public or private nonsectarian school of their choice.

¹⁶ Mitchell Report, p. 1.

¹⁷ Milwaukee Public Schools, "Reflections on the Milwaukee Desegregation Superiorea," August 1980, p. 1.

¹⁸ Transcript, vol. I, p. 15.

¹⁹ Charles V. Willie, Michael J. Alver, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan for Milwauker Public Schools" (February 1990), app. 1-12-16 (hercafter cited as "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan"); Felmers Chancy, president, National Association for the Advancement of Colored People-Milwauker, letter to Tommy Thompson, Governor of Wisconsin, Feb. 6, 1990 (hersefter cited as Chancy Letter); "Abolish Chapter 220, Norquist Says, 220 Program Misses Mark, Helps Segregation Mayor Says," Milwaskee Journal, Apr. 4, 1990, p. 1-A.

^{20 &}quot;School Attendance Plan Evokes Distrust," Millesukee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1; "Action on School Plan Too Rushed, Parents Say," Millesukee Journal, Feb. 28, 1990, p. A-1; "Aldermen Want A Say in School Propossi," Millesukee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1.

^{21 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," p. 61.

²² Chancy Letter; "Norquist Says Revenup 220; Empower Parents," Milwaukoe Community Journal, May 23, 1990, p. 1; Transcript, wol. I. p. 145.

^{23 &}quot;Aldermon Want A Say in School Proposal," Milwenkee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1.

^{24 &}quot;Mayor Tells Agency Chapter 220 Isn's Working," Milwankov Iou and Apr. 27, 1990, p. B-1; Transcript, vol. I, pp. 299-301.

^{25 &}quot;Peterkin to Mayor; 220 Too Important to Scrap," The Milwauker Community Journal, Apr. 25, 1990, pp. 1, 6.

^{26 &}quot;Mayor Sees End of Urban Schools," Milweuker Journal, Jap. 2, 1992, p. A-1.

2. A Context for Examining the Impact of School Desegregation Upon Quality Education for Minority Students

Chronology of Desegregation in Metropolitan Milwaukee

January 1976 Federal Judge John Reynolds ruled the Milwaukee Public Schools were segregated unlawfully.

April 1976 The Wisconsin Legislature enacted Chapter 220, a program to aid in implementing integration within MPS and to promote voluntary metropolitan integration.

September 1976 Implementation of Chapter 220 began, within the city and on a city-suburban basis.

May 1979 Judge Reynolds approved the plan MPS had been using since 1976 to respond to the order to end segregation.

October 1984 MPS sued the State and 24 suburban school districts for continued segregation.

August 1987 Settlement agreement reached to improve the quality of education and to promote racial and cultural integration in the metropolitan area.

School desegregation as a legal issue was initiated in Milwaukee in 1965 by the local chapter of the

National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP). After more than a decade of legal effort, on January 19, 1976, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin ruled that MPS was unconstitutionally segregated and must develop a plan to desegregate schools. A settlement agreement was reached in 1979 that provided for 75 percent of the system's students to be educated in racially balanced schools. This agreement prohibited all-white schools but permitted some all-black or nearly all-black schools. Racially balanced elementary and middle schools were defined as between 25 and 60 percent black, and racially balanced high schools were defined as between 20 and 60 percent black. Before 1976 only 14 of 158 schools were integrated. By 1988, 112 of the system's 138 schools were integrated through busing." At this point, MPS's court-ordered desegregation plan helped quite a bit in reducing segregation.

In the 1979-80 school year, MPS had 79 percent of its students attending racially balanced schools and all other requirements of the settlement agreement were either met or exceeded. However, in 1984 when the settlement agreement expired, the number of black students in MPS exceeded 50 percent and was steadily moving toward 55 percent. Sensing that the effectiveness of the plan was weakening, MPS believed that a metropolitan student assignment plan was necessary to maintain the level of desegregation that it had achieved.

¹ George A. Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwanker," (Wisconsin Policy Research Institute: June 1989) (hereafter cited as Mitchell Report), pp. 1, 22,

² Amos v. Board of School Directors of the City of Milwankee, 408 F.Supp. 765, 818 (E.D. Wis. 1976); all'd sub-most. Americang v. Broman, 539 F.2d 265 (7th Cir. 1976), vaceted 433 U.S. 672 (1977).

³ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, vol. I, p. 14 (horaster cited as Transcript).

⁴ Mitchell Repart, p. 54.

⁵ Prepared by the Milwankee Public Schools, "Reflections on the Milwankee Desegregation Experience," August 1980, p. 8.

⁶ Charles V. Willie, Michael I. Alves, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan for Milwaukee Public Schools" (February 1990), app. 1-4 (hereafter cited as "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan").

It is important to note why desegregation was weakening. Milwaukee in the 1980s, similar to other cities, experienced demographic and economic changes resulting in a larger minority population and a declining white population. Even before desegregation, Milwaukee was losing its white population at a rate of 1.3 to 2.4 percent per year. Because of the declining white population, it became clear that to achieve desegregation MPS would require "more" participation from suburban districts. It was also during this period that the national political climate and Federal Government enforcement efforts changed to a degree that desegregation was not considered fashionable. Dr. Gary Orfield, a desegregation expert, wrote that:

The conservative movement of the 1980s has a sweeping effect on State and local governments. . . When the Federal government took the posture that educational standards had deteriorated and priority must be given to raising them, the States eagerly responded. They adopted stiffer public school graduation requirements and became more tolerant of resulting inequities. Few States had ever paid serious attention to civil rights policy, except when under direct Federal pressure, and now many adopted policies that had the consequence of limiting opportunities for blacks. It was during this period that some local school districts sought, with the Reagan Justice Department's encouragement, to throw off the "burdens" of the school desegregation orders they had been under for a decade or more. . . .

In October 1984 MPS filed a lawsuit against the surrounding suburban districts and the State of Wisconsin. The lawsuit, Board of School Directors of the City of Milwaukee v. Thompson (84-C-877), alleged that the defendants had cooperated in a continuing series of actions and failures to act with respect to housing and education to intentionally

isolate Milwaukee black students within the city and to maintain segregation and inequality of educational opportunity in the metropolitan area. The NAACP, the Milwaukee Teachers' Education Association (MTEA), and the Wisconsin Education Association Council (WEAC) later joined the lawsuit on the side of MPS. A settlement agreement was reached in August 1987. The goals of the agreement were to improve the quality of education and to promote racial and cultural integration. The parties agreed to expand efforts to achieve greater racial balance of the public schools in the metropolitan area through Chapter 220 and pro-integration housing initiatives.

Implementation of the settlement agreement began during the 1987-88 school year and will expire July 1, 1993, after the 1992-93 school year. 4 The settlement provided the following: (1) voluntary increases in the number of minority students attending suburban schools (hopefully enrolling 8,500 minority students by 1992-93); (2) reservation by MPS of 10 percent of student assignments for suburban transfers; (3) creation of a housing counseling and recruitment center to give families advice on moving to areas that would increase racial integration; (4) establishment of a mortgage loan assistance program to help minorities move to the suburbs and whites to the city: (5) provision by the State of \$30 million for remedial education in Milwaukee; (6) establishment of a coordinating council to oversee and promote the city-suburbs transfer program; (7) hiring of more minority employees by suburban schools; and (8) application by school boards of only the same standards. tests, or procedures to transfer students as to their own resident students.

Thus far, the full desegregative potential of the interdistrict settlement agreement has not been achieved. According to information in the "long-

⁷ Ibid., app. (-11.

⁸ Gary Orfield and Carole Ashkinaza, The Closing Door, Conservative Policy and Black Opportunity (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991), p. xvii.

⁹ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 17-18.

¹⁰ Ibid., vol. I, p. 18.

¹¹ Thid n 19

¹² Settlement Agreement, U.S. District Court, Bastern District of Wisconsin, Sept. 16, 1987, p. 1.

^{13 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," app. 1-5.

¹⁴ Sattlement Agreement, pp. 2, 6.

^{15 [}bid., pp. 1-21; Transcript, vol. I, pp. 19-21.

Range Educational Equity Plan," although 506 new MPS students transferred to suburban schools in the 1988-89 school year, the number of new applications was four times the number of students accepted as transfers. The new students resulted in a total enrollment of MPS pupils in suburban schools of 4,304. They represented 6 to 7 percent of the 65,220 resident student population of the suburban districts. During the 1988-89 school ver. 972 suburban students transferred to MPS. They represented 1 percent of the 96,290 resident student population of Milwaukeo. This analysis reveals that both city and suburban school systems can accommodate more students than either had received to that date.

Because of Chapter 220, the proportion of racial and ethnic minorities in MPS was reduced by 6 or 7 percent in 1988-89 and the proportion of racial miporities in suburban school districts increased by 150 percent. Even with this increase, however, the suburban minority student population is only 11 percent of the combined resident suburban student body. Also due to transfers, during the 1988-89 school year, the proportion of white students in suburban districts was reduced by 1 percent and the proportion of white students in MPS was increased by 3 percent." The most recent data show that 5,714 or 5.8 percent of MPS minority students attend suburban schools; 71.5 percent of these students are black. MPS schools are attended by 873 or 1.8 percent of the suburban resident students.

In 1985 a study commission was appointed by the Governor and the superintendent of public instruction to assess the quality of education in the 22 met-

ropolitan public schools.²³ In its report, "Better Public Schools," the study commission found that there was an unacceptable disparity in educational opportunity and achievement between poor and minority children on one hand and nonpoor and white children on the other. It also found that even though commendable examples of effective programs and high scholastic achievement occurred in some of the schools, thousands of young people, most black, were leaving the system with limited academic skills

Dr. John Witte, who directed the study noted above, soon developed a followup paper called "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwaukee." His findings concluded that an extraordinary degree of educational inequality existed between races, income classes, individual schools, and school districts.24 The study described three different educational worlds. The first is a white, middle-class world in the suburbs, where educational attainment is significantly above national norms and children are moving through the educational systems with considerable success. The second is of students enrolled in the city of Milwankee's specialty of magnet schools. These schools are more or less racially integrated, although less successfully integrated in terms of economic class.25 Educational achievement in these schools is usually somewhat lower than in the suburban schools, but generally above national medians. The students show consistent educational progress and promise of future educational success. The third world, consisting of the vast majority of MPS students, is a stark contrast to the other two." Regular or traditional MPS schools are predominantly low-income, minority schools where educational at-

^{16 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," app. I-6.

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Ibid.

^{19 1}bid.

²⁰ Ibid.

²¹ Ibid.

²² Ibid., Gerald Vance, director. Compact for Educational Opportunity, telephone interview, Mar. 17, 1992.

²³ Study Commission on the Quality of Education in the Metropolitan Milwaukee Public Schools, "Better Public Schools" (October 1985) (horeafter cited as Study Commission Report).

²⁴ John F. Witto, "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwaukee" (Paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, University of Chicago, Sept. 5, 1986), p. 1.

²⁵ Ibid.

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ Ibid.

tainment is consistently below the national medians (in higher grades often in the lowest national quartile), school dropout rates are dismal and often 10 times higher than in suburban districts, and the future prospects for those who exit the educational system are bleak.²⁸

Calls for change have come from the broader community because of poor educational attainment by black students and concerns that desegregation had not substantially progressed toward the intended results. For example, in February 1990 the speaker for the Wisconsin Assembly questioned whether desegregation was achieving the desired results of improving the education of students. In 1990 the Milwaukee chapter of the NAACP contacted the Governor to complain about the widening achievement gap between black and white students. Finally, Mayor Norquist has criticized the Chapter 220 program for its inequities and called for its replacement with parental choice programs.

^{28 [}bid., pp. 1-2

^{29 &}quot;Loftus Questions Integration Plan," Milwaukee Journal, Feb. 1, 1990, p. 1-B.

³⁰ Felmers Chancy, president, Milwaukee chapter, NAACP, letter to Tommy Thompson, Governor of Wisconsin, Feb. 6, 1990.

³¹ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 299-301.

3. School Desegregation and Educational Outcomes for Minorities

The desegregation program rested on the basic assumption that with enough time. State financial assistance, and new spending, minority academic achievement would improve significantly and close the gap with white academic achievement. Therefore, the question raised here is whether academic achievement for black students has been raised or lowered during desegregation. Unfortunately, 15 years after the court decision, enactment of Chapter 220, and over \$334 million dollars spent, neither the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, the Milwaukee Public Schools, or the suburban districts have done a comprehensive evaluation of the educational outcomes of desegregation.2 The study commission report by Dr. John Witte assessed the quality and equity of education in the 22 metropolitan public school districts in Milwaukee, but did not focus on school desegregation. However, it is important to note some of the achievement levels described in this report.

Although this study did find some examples of high achievement in Milwaukee, it overwhelmingly found that most minority children and children from poor families were performing below satisfactory levels.³ The research showed that:

By the fifth grade (perhaps earlier), a significant majority of poor and/or minority children are performing below the national average on achievement tests.

There is a significant gap in math scores between boys and girls, with MPS longitudinal data showing large drops in math scores from grade 7 to grade 10 for girls of all races, but particularly for Hispanic and black girls.

The average grade point in 13 of Milwaukee's 15 public high schools is less than 2.0, or C.

Over one-quarter of the courses taken in MPS high schools end in a recorded grade of F or U for unsatisfactory. In seven of the MPS high schools, the percentage of F s was above 30.

MPS has a dropout rate more than double both the State average or the highest rate of any suburban school, with most dropouts occurring before the 11th grade.

For the grades tested, 2, 5, 7, and 10, the percentages of students in MPS below the national median ranged from 45.2 percent in grade 2 to 58.3 percent in grade 10. Of all suburban students tested, the percentages below the national median ranged from 17.6 percent in grade 2 to 29 percent in grade 10.

In schools with significantly lower achievement scores, there was less parent involvement.

While one-half of the suburban districts have between 5 percent and 17 percent minority students, minority teachers in the suburbs represent only .5 percent of the total teaching staff. In 1983-84, 18.5 percent of the MPS teaching staff members were minority as compared to a 59 percent minority student enrollment.

¹ George A. Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwanker" (Wisconsin Policy Research Institute: June 1989) (hereafter cited as Mitchell Report), p. 1.

² Ibid., p. 3.

³ Study Commission on the Quality of Education in the Metropolitan Milwaukee Public Schools, "Better Public Schools" (October 1985), pp. 1, 11-12.

⁴ Ibid., p. 12.

Based upon this information, the study commission concluded that there were considerable differences in academic achievement among individual schools in MPS and between city and suburban schools.5 Overall, student achievement in the suburbs was above national norms, while in the city most grades were not reaching national norms, even though they had improved. Non-low-income students did better than low-income students, and white students did better than blacks and Hispanics; and in general, students in the suburbs did better than those in the city. 6 Differences in achievement between economic and racial groups existed in both the city and the suburbs, but the differences were larger in Milwankee.' Racial and socioeconomic differences in test results, grades, and credits earned were very large by the tenth grade, particularly in MPS.8 The dropout rate for minority and low-income students was particularly severe." In general, MPS students in specialty schools performed better than students in traditional schools, and there was a direct relationship between strong school leadership, team work, high expectations, and academic achievement at the elementary and middle school levels.

Student achievement was addressed in one other study, An Evaluation of State-Financed School Integration in Metropolitan Milwaukee by George A. Mitchell of the Wisconsin Policy Research Institute. This study, issued in June 1989, reviewed racial integration in MPS. One aspect of the study was an analysis of student achievement in traditional versus specialty schools and of transfer students in the Chapter 220 program. The report concluded that the desegregation program had failed to increase the academic achievement of black students.

According to the Mitchell study, black achievement in MPS's 10 integrated traditional high schools was strikingly low. In 1988:

Grades averaged D to D+,

Black students received F's in 26 to 43 percent of their courses.

Only 8 to 21 percent of black students exceeded national test averages.

The gap between black and white performance remains large at most specialty and traditional schools. Some narrowing has occurred since 1983-84 often due to lower white achievement.¹⁴

The Mitchell study concluded that while racial segregation was reduced, a new type of dual system based upon socioeconomic factors had emerged. The study concurred with conclusions reached in the study commission report that suburban whites did better than city whites; city whites outperformed suburban blacks; and suburban blacks exceeded the achievement of city blacks.¹⁵

A report by MPS on educational results in the 1989-90 school year showed mixed results. The report stated the following:

Suspensions

While the rate of suspensions fell in six schools, it rose in six others with large black and Hispanic populations. While the overall rate of suspensions fell from 17 to 15 percent, the percentage of blacks suspended in 1989-90 was at least

⁵ Ibid., p. 13.

⁶ Ibád.

^{7 [}bid.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Ebid.

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Mitchell Report.

¹² Thid., pp. 53, 84.

¹³ lbid., p. 4.

¹⁴ Ibid., p. 53.

¹⁵ Ibid., pp. 53-54, 85.

^{16 &}quot;Societal Conditions Contributed to Poor Report Card," The Milwarker Community Journal, Oct. 24, 1990, p. 1.

twice the percentage of white students at 12 high schools. Twelve schools had suspension rates above 10 percent.

Dropout fates

Improvements in dropout rates have not changed significantly. [In plreceding school years the dropout rates were 10.5 and 10.1. Nine schools had dropout rates above 10 percent for 1989-90 and North Division (predominantly black high school) had a rate of 26.4 percent.

Attendance

Attendance rate fell in eight of the 15 high schools, while rising in only three.

Grade Point Average

Grade points fell at nine schools and rose at just five. White students managed a collective GPA of 2.0 or higher at six high schools, while Hispanics at two schools had a collective GPA of 2.0 and blacks had none. Only Rufus King and the Milwaukee High School for the Arts had collective grade points above 2.0. No school had a GPA in the 2.50 range. At 11 high schools blacks had a grade point of 1.5 or lower. The average grade point average for a black student was 1.3.

The most disturbing data concerns the black males who comprise 27.6 percent of the student population but comprise 50 percent of student suspensions and about 80 percent have a grade point average of D or less. This problem has caused MPS to be one of the first public schools in the country to open special schools for black males. [This issue is discussed later in this report.]¹⁸

Parental Attitudes About MPS

Parents of children attending MPS gave the ed-

ucation their children receive high marks in comparison to non-MPS parents. Lack of discipline was cited as the top problem in the schools. Forty-two percent of parents say the school have either improved or stayed the same in the last five years. Lack of discipline was cited as the main reason that the schools have not improved. Sixty-one percent say they believe class size has a great deal to do with achievement and 51 percent would pay more taxes to reduce class size. Sixty-seven percent say they would be willing to pay more in taxes to improve the quality of education in Milwaukee. Fifty-one percent of respondents say desegregation guidelines in MPS should be abolished. However, there was a dramatic difference in opinion by race. Fifty-nine percent of black parents believe desegregation guidelines should not be abolished, while 52 percent of Hispanic and 55 percent of white respondents feel the guidelines should be abolished. When parents were asked what MPS should be doing they listed improve discipline and upgrade the quality of teachers. Other significant parental responses were ending busing and more parental involvement.

During the community forum, the Committee received information from participants that suggests that academic outcomes for most black students had not improved under desegregation. Some contend quality education should be the sole goal. Others contend that both quality education and integration are important and are irrevocably connected to our quest for equal educational opportunity. Some of the opinions expressed were:

Dr. Robert Peterkin, Former Superintendent

The issues of quality education and desegregation now have equal weight. There was a time when that was not true. We may have thought it was true. We may have said it was true. But,

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Told.

^{19 &}quot;Parents Give Public Schools Fassing Grade," The Milwaukee Community Journal, Sept. 26, 1990, p. 2.

²⁰ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, *Transcript*, vol. I, pp. 9-120 (percenter cited as *Transcript*).

^{21 [}bid.

in fact, we spent time with the assignment of young people and thought of their educational programs as a secondary feature, as if some magic reassignment of students would automatically improve schools. . . That is one of the reasons why I tend to focus more on school improvement than I do on the mechanics of desegregation and have recently reaffirmed that for this community. One of the things that we have not been able to come up with is a plan, to deal with desegregating systems and still provide the best possible education. . . Student outcomes have to get better. 22

Carl Mueller, Chief of Staff, Mayor's Office

Desegregation is important but quality education is more important. . . . In seeking to remedy segregation we have fallen into a strategy that is debilitating for the majority of students. . . ,Efforts toward integration has produced segregation along class lines, low-income students of both races that are heavily concentrated in traditional schools, while the middle class of both races are heavily concentrated in MPS specialty schools and suburban schools. . . . Finally, Chapter 220 has simply failed to improve educational outcomes for minority students. Black achievement in the city's 10 integrated traditional high schools is appallingly low, In 1988, for example, grades averaged from D to D+. Black students received F's in a range of 26 to 43 percent of their courses. Only 8 to 21 percent of the black students exceeded national test averages."

Joyce Mallory, School Board Member

The method by which MPS desegregated its schools did not ensure equal educational opportunity for all students. . . Its reliance on specialty and magnet schools resulted in a kind of two-tier system where I have a group of high quality city specialty schools where both black and white students receive an excellent educa-

tion...the original premise of school desegregation has never been linked with quality education...So we were never told or required to provide educational programs to correct deficiencies that many children of color, particularly black children had, once desegregation occurred...

David Hase, President, Mequon-Thiensville School Board

Support for school desegregation efforts are fast eroding because of costs and quality issues. . . . MPS is not a quality school in comparison to some of the suburban schools. There are some fine schools in the district, but overall there is much to do regarding quality. Integration and quality must be compatible and not competing goals. The enhancement of quality does not justify the reduction of integration efforts. There needs to be a happy marriage between quality and desegregation. . . .

State Representative Polly Williams

The only kids who are benefactors of this whole system [desegregation] are the white students. They're the ones that are making it in the system. And, of course, those children of parents who can afford to pay and purchase the kind of education they want. Poor people don't have the chance at all here. . . . We don't want this desegregation. Desegregation in the city of Milwaukee is terrible, and I'd like to see it abolished and go back to educating our children in our neighborhoods regardless of color. And it doesn't matter if they're all black schools. I think black kids can learn in an all-black situation.

Dr. Howard Fuller, Director, Department of Health and Human Services

Basically, what I believe is that Milwaukee pursued a discriminatory implementation of desegregation; and that, in essence, what happened

²² Ibid., pp. 507-08, 111-12, 115.

²³ Ibid., pp. 298, 301-02.

²⁴ Ibid., pp. 121-23.

²⁵ Ibid., pp. 198-99, 207-08.

²⁶ Fald., pp. 275-76.

in Milwaukee was they stood the *Brown* decision on its head. . . . There were tremendous gaps in achievement levels between white kids and black kids in elementary schools. And all of this was hidden by the refusal of MPS, up until the Governor's Commission was put together, to develop disaggregate data so that we could, in fact, understand what was happening to African American children, and for that matter, the Hispanic children. . . . Because it was all covered up in aggregate data, and it was only after we actually begin to disaggregate the data that the truth about what was happening to African American children in these desegregated schools begin to come to light. The state of t

Since Dr. Fuller's presentation before the Wisconsin Advisory Committee, he was appointed superintendent of MPS and now has the opportunity to address the problems associated with desegregation and academic achievement.

In August 1991 Dr. Fuller presented to the school board proposals for long-term reform of MPS. His proposals related primarily to improved education and intradistrict pupil assignment issues. The major thrust of his reform is high academic achievement by establishing higher graduation requirements, tougher school safety and discipline standards, greater parental choice and involvement, school by school accountability, and a school construction plan aimed at easing crowding. With the exception

of his parental choice initiatives, his reform plans were well received by the school board. 28

Other Minorities

Ethnic minorities such as Hispanics and Asians perceive that desegregation has not benefited them. The 1976 desegregation order was only written in terms of black students and white students. For desegregation purposes, Hispanics were classified as white. Moreover, there was not much support for desegregation in the Hispanic community because by and large they feared busing and the loss of neighborhood schools. Hispanics say that desegregation has caused their children's educational needs to be neglected. Although student achievement for Hispanics is not as low as blacks, Hispanic children, like black children, have failed to make acceptable academic progress.

MPS's 1989-90 report card on achievement showed that, similar to blacks, the rate of suspension rose in schools with large Hispanic populations. Hispanics received a collective GPA of 2.0 or higher in at least two schools. Miguel Berry of the Mexican American Society stated that Hispanics, who are only 9.3 percent of the student population, make up 86 percent of student dropouts. Although Hispanics are 9.0 percent of MPS students enrolled in Chapter 220, some Hispanics perceive that their children's level of participation in this program, as well as in the specialty schools, has been limited. Mr. Berry said this is due to low Hispanic enrollments in the feeder schools that access the specialty

²⁷ Ibid., pp. 76, 82.

^{28 &}quot;School Board Likes Fuller Plan with Exception of School Choice," Milwaukse Journal, Aug. 11, 1991, p. B-2.

²⁹ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 344, 60; "Hispanic Pupils" Needs Most Not Get Lost in Desegregation Shuffle," Milwanker Journal, Aug. 31, 1987, p. B-1.

³⁰ John F. Witte, "Educational Inequality and Metropolitan Integration in Milwatkee" (Paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, University of Chicago, Sept. 5, 1986), p. 22.

³¹ Transcript, vol. I, p. 344.

³² Ibid.

^{33 &}quot;Hispanic Pupils' Needs Must Not Get Lost in Desegregation Shuffle," Milwaukee Journal, Aug. 31, 1987, p. B-I.

³⁴ Thid.

^{35 &}quot;Societal Conditions Contributed to Pour Report Card," The Milwaudee Community Journal, Oct. 24, 1990, p. 1.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Transcript, vol. I, p. 344. (Official carollment data provided by MPS indicate Hispanics comprise 9.8 percent of the student enrollment.)

³⁸ fbid.

^{39 [}bid.

schools. 40 In the quest for quality education for Hispanics, Mr. Berry said that actions should be taken to cradicate low expectations of Hispanic students, eliminate cultural and language barriers, and take affirmative steps to recruit Hispanic teachers. 41

Asian students are 3,352 or 3.4 percent of MPS pupil population. Being a smaller group than both blacks and Hispanics, Asians tend to be less visible and less affected by desegregation. Asian students are entolled in MPS schools and Chapter 220. However, they prefer attending the suburban schools. Entollment figures for 1990-91 show that of the Chapter 220 students, 13 percent were Asians versus 2.6 enrollment in MPS schools. A representative from the Asian community, Chia Thao of the Hmong American Friendship Association, stated that Asian students prefer the suburban schools because they feel more comfortable with the teachers.

Asian parents are primarily concerned about cultural and language barriers in the schools. Some suggested recommendations for improved education for Asian students were elimination of language barriers through bilingual transitional education for students and adults, after-school tutoring, bilingual teacher aides, creative and nondiscriminatory methods of teaching limited-English-speaking students, and drug and alcohol counseling. Mr. Thao's main criticism of the schools was poor channels to information about school programs caused by language and cultural barriers.

It appears that both Hispanic and Asian students have been somewhat invisible or uninvolved participants in the school desegregation program.

During research for the "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," the following comments were made about and by Hispanics and Asians regarding desegregation practices of MPS:

- —There is confusion because the definition of desegregation is based on categories of blacks and nonblacks for Milwaukee, rather than blacks, Hispanics, Asian Americans, Native Americans as one category of protected minorities versus whites in the intradistrict transfer program. (Interview with central administrator 1989)
- The school system gives "lip service" to bilingual programs and is not diligent in providing equal access for bilingual students to specialty schools. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)
- -Ethnic minorities are discouraged from participating in the interdistrict transfer program even though some are in the category of protected minorities for whom the program was created because the city school system wishes to keep them, since they are classified as white in Milwaukee. (Interview with ethnic minority person 1989)
- —There is no programmatic protection for language minorities who are not in bilingual programs. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)
- —In bilingual education the language-development programs are not in the predominantly white schools but are in the predominantly black schools. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)
- -There is no clear policy on exceptional education services for bilingual students who need such services. (Interview with linguistic minority person 1989)

⁴⁰ Ibid.

⁴¹ Ibld., p. 345.

⁴² Gary Peterson, coordinator of Research, Milwauken Public Schools, telephone interview, Mat. 4, 1992.

⁴³ Dr. Howard Puller, superintendent of schools, letter with enrollment figures to Melvin Jenkins, director, Central Regional Office, U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, June 21, 1991.

⁴⁴ Transcript, vol. I. pp. 59-60.

⁴⁵ Ibid., pp. 58-65.

⁴⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁷ Ibid., pp. 63-65.

—Many linguistic minorities cannot fill out the paperwork to get the options that are available and there is no one available to give guidance. Parent Information Centers are needed and should be in each Service Delivery Area. (Interview with linguistic minority persons 1989)⁴⁸

The preceding information would strongly indicate that much of the desegregation debate in Milwaukee revolves around whether black students have benefited academically from desegregation. As the available data show, educational outcomes for black students are less than satisfactory, and the gap continues to widen between white and black students." Assuming that enough time and financial assistance have gone into desegregation, what other factors affeet the schooling of students? According to Michael Smith, president of the Milwaukee Metropolitan Alliance of Black Educators, other conditions such as single parent homes, joblessness, teen pregnancy, and crime contribute to the educational morass in urban schools. In response to the 1990 MPS report card on educational performance of blacks. Mr. Smith stated:

Negative living conditions have an adverse effect on the ability of students to learn. . . Schools are not doing anything that is making it worse but rather it's something going on in the lives of the students that is making them worse. . . . The findings of the report card are not so much

a reflection on the schools, but the quality of life which is getting worse. Si

Gary Orfield, a desegregation expert, believes it is reasonable to expect some academic benefit from desegregation, but suggests that poverty and other socioeconomic-related experiences also influence deseg-regation outcomes.⁵² The Mitchell report, the only study on integration and achievement outcomes. does not fully take into account all of these factors. It is known from longitudinal studies that have been done in other cities that desegregation appears to have some positive effects. Robert L. Crain's work on the long-term effects of desegregation in Hartford, Connecticut, for example, shows that black students who participated in a desegregation program, compared to a control group who did not, were more likely to go to college, to graduate, to get professional jobs, to avoid problems with police, to avoid unwed parenthood, and to have more white friends. James Rosenbaum's research on school experiences of low-income black children in white suburbs also shows favorable outcomes for students and families who participated fully in school desegregation. Until MPS conducts further research on the question of desegregation effects and what the long-term benefits and costs have been, the debate on desegregation versus quality education will not likely be settled 600D.

⁴⁸ Charles V. Willie, Michael J. Alves, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equality Plan for Milwackee Public Schools" (Pebmary 1990), app. 1-14-15.

⁴⁹ Mitchell Report, p. 53.

^{50 &}quot;Societal Conditions Contributed to Poor 'Report Card," The Milwaukee Community Journal, Oct. 24, 1990, p. 1.

⁵¹ Ibid.

^{52 &}quot;Achievement Gap Continues," Ornata World-Harald, Aug. 19, 1991, p. 1.

⁵³ Robert L. Crain, "The Long-Term Effects of Desegregation: Results from a True Experiment" (Paper prepared for the National Conference on School Desegregation Research, Chicago, III., September 1986).

⁵⁴ James E. Rosenbaum, "School Experiences of Low-Income Black Children in White Suburba" (Paper prepared for National Conference on School Desegregation Research, Chicago, IL, September 1986).

4. Human Relations

Thic desegregation provides a legal remedy for constitutional violations, it was also hoped desegregation would reduce racial tensions and prepare students for living in a diverse society. Therefore, the success of school desegregation also depends on the degree to which students, teachers, administrators, and parents are able to create conditions under which students of different races are brought together to understand and accept each other. Based on this assumption, quality education cannot be measured solely by grades and test scotes, and as pointed out by then President Richard M. Nixon:

It is a place not only of learning but also of fiving—where a child's friendships center, where he learns to measure himself against others, to share, to compete, to cooperate—and it is the one institution above all others with which the parent shares his child.

The actions and attitudes of students, teachers, and parents of the differing racial groups are highly significant elements of the desegregation process and its successful outcome. The questions raised here are: What is the racial climate in the schools? What is the nature and extent of integration among students, teachers, administrators, and parents? What steps have been taken to promote successful adjustments to desegregation and racial understanding?

It is reasonable to assume that increased racial polarization in the broader community of Milway-

kee over such issues as police-community relations, employment opportunities, housing, and increased militancy within the black leadership has affected MPS's ability to integrate schools in the metropolitan area.

Since much of the concern about desegregation in Milwaukee has focused on the academic achievement of blacks and maintaining racially balanced schools, there has not been much study on the racial climate in the schools. During the 1989-90 and 1990-91 school years, a number of racial incidents were reported between Chapter 220 students and suburban students and between black and white students attending school in MPS.5 During 1989-90 the racial tensions increased to the point that a circuit court judge of the children's court recommended that the courts work directly with MPS to ease racial tensions. This was triggered by the judge's observations of increased cases involving racial conflicts among students. The judge attributed part of the cause to integration in the schools."

Information received during the community forum revealed considerable racial polarization among teachers and a negative view of white teachers by some blacks in the broader community. According to State Representative Polly Williams and her legislative aide, Iarry Harwell, this is caused by white teachers' insensitivity, control by a predominately white teachers' union over educational decisions affecting black students, unfair teacher assignments,

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Milliton v. Bredley: The Implications for Metropolitan Description (Conference, Nov. 9, 1974),
 p. 131.

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Rucial Isolation in the Public Schools (Feb. 9, 1967), p. 157.

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Understanding School Desegregation (1971), p. 12.

^{4 &}quot;Call for Black Militia Stuns Milwaukee," The New York Times, Apr. 6, 1990, p. B-1.

⁵ Milwaukse Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1989-90 and 1990-91 (April 1991), pp. 59-60; "Race Problems Tied to Misconceptions," Milwaukse Journal, May 5, 1990, p. B-3; "Embattiod Bulkin Urges Unity at School," Milwaukse Journal, May 23, 1990, p. 1; "Officials Deny Racial Problems in Falls Schools," Wantesta Freeman, May 22, 1990, p. A-1.

^{6 &}quot;Judges Say Racial Tensions May Be Rising," Milwankee Journal, May 22, 1990, p. 1.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Wisconsis Advisory Committee to U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, community forum, May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, pp. 267-71, 118-20 (hereafter cited as Transcript):

and the use of racial quotes to maintain a racially balanced teacher staff.

State Representative Polly Williams stated:

The desegregation settlement made sure that the ratio of teachers in the schools would always be 7 whites out of 10 teachers. And if there's a black teacher in school and the number of black teachers are going over that amount, they move the black teacher. . . . And we have some black teachers that really are very upset. They call me because they have been at the schools for years. They know the children. They want to stay at these schools, but if that 30 percent level is attained a seasoned experjenced black teacher will have to leave the black school and be replaced. by a new white-someone who just got out of college, who doesn't even know the kids, who has no interest, and who's only coming in because all the white teachers have to serve time in the black community to get their experience so that they can get the better jobs, the better positions.

In regard to white control over school decisions, State Representative Williams reported:

[Black teachers] are outvoted by all the white teachers. And they'll say that they know that what they (white educators) have decided to do is not going to work for this majority-black student body that's in those schools. But the white teachers say, "No, this is what we want." And the vote always comes down on the side of the majority while, and it's very frustrating.

Felmers Chaney, president of the Milwaukee chapter of the NAACP, reported that to some extent the lack of parental involvement in the schools is caused by poor communications and insensitivity by school staff. He stated:

[Black parents] don't face up too good with the school system because they feel a little intimidated. Half the time when the parents have to go in, we [NAACP] have to go in with them. Everybody looks down their nose on them,

teachers and principals... In the school we will never get quality education unless we do something inside of the schools. We either have to have a retraining program or we have to have a firing program... Because anytime the teachers sit in a room in a school where the majority of them are black and when the bell rings, the teachers sit there and say, "Here come those animals"—something is wrong with those teachers."

Some examples cited as cultural insensitivity by white teachers were their annoyance at black dress styles and lack of understanding of black culture.

An effort to address interpersonal and human relations in the schools was the Integrated Pupil and Family Support Task Force, established in 1989 to develop a cooperative program through which community agencies, parents, and MPS work together to increase student attendance and social and academic achievement. In May 1990 the task force issued its report with findings and recommendations that, among other things, expressly addressed prevention and intervention strategies to deal with race and cul-tural relations in the schools.¹⁴ The task force determined that student programs that fostered "belongingness," social responsibility, and positive social experiences were needed. Minority parents, in particular, reported a need for a review of desegregation laws and courses on human and race relations for students and staff. Parents also expressed a concern about the disproportionate number of white staff educating their children. 15 Steps proposed to address these concerns were inservice training for teachers on human and race relations, review of desegregation issues, and expansion of strategies such as peer counseling, cross-age tutoring, and peer mediation. Other relevant recommendations made by the task force were to plan and pilot a multicultural awareness program, infuse multicultural diversity into the curriculum, and to train minority parents in establishing effective partnerships with teachers."

⁹ Dåd.

¹⁰ Ibid., pp. 268-69.

¹¹ Ibid., pp. 269-70.

¹² Ibid., pp. 317-18.

¹³ Ibid., pp. 270-71.

¹⁴ Milwanico Public Schools, Repart of the Integrated Pupil Family Support Services Task Force (May 10, 1993), pp. 1-3, 7-17, 41-56.

¹⁵ fbjd., pp. 7-17, 41-52.

¹⁶ Ibid.

though implementation of these recommendations is only in its initial stages, this is an opportunity for MPS to enhance, honestly and effectively, interracial and cultural relations among staff, students, and parents. ¹⁸

The 1987 metropolitan desegregation lawsuit settlement agreement provided for a coordinating council. The council consists of 46 members, equally divided into city and suburban representation. The staff for the council is called the Compact for Educational Opportunity (CEO). The staff is responsible, among other things, for human relations, staff development, recruitment of minority teachers, and resolving complaints of each district.

To date, the racial climate and interracial relations in the suburban schools participating in Chapter 220 have not been fully studied. The 1989-90 and 1990-91 Chapter 220 annual reports do describe, to a limited degree, identified problems and efforts to address racial and cultural relations.

During the last 2 years, there were several human relations problems involving MPS Chapter 220 students in suburban districts. Fights, walkouts, and demonstrations involving MPS Chapter 220 students occurred in Franklin, Brown Deer, and Greendale. Also, a media report in May 1990 identified two racial incidents involving minor skirmishes between white students and black Chapter 220 students in the Menomonee Falls School District. In each instance, the MPS human relations team and/or the CEO team assisted the suburban district in resolving the problem through counseling and meetings with administrators, students, teachers, and parents.

MPS identified the following as underlying tensions between MPS Chapter 220 students and resident suburban students:

- Lack of African-American staff;
- Lack of multicultural curriculum;
- 3. Perceived inequitable treatment;
- 4. Racial slurs and comments:
- Failure to celebrate African-American History month;
- 6. Inadequate recognition of Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday; and
- 7. Lack of organized African-American student unions.²³

Steps have been taken by some districts to address these problems. Franklin hired its own Chapter 220 program administrator and human relations coordinator. Brown Deer has adopted a multicultural, ethnic, and race relations policy and is working toward a multicultural curriculum. Greendale plans to create a new staff position to oversee the Chapter 220 program. Menomonee Falls school officials provided counseling to the students and parents involved in the 1990 racial incidents. The MPS human relations team, which is responsible for helping suburban districts to resolve concerns of Chapter 220 students, also encourages each district to take preventive measures to address human relations issues.

Andrea Whidbee, ombudsperson for the CEO, describes her job as a mediator/arbitrator of Chapter 220 disputes for the 23 suburban school districts and MPS. She monitors pupil-related problems. If there are conflicts that either the city or suburban districts are experiencing, she is responsible for working out

^{17 1}bid.

¹⁸ Transcript, p. 26.

¹⁹ Settlement Agreement, U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Wisconsin, 84-C-877, Sept. 16, 1987, p. 8; George Mitchell, "An Evaluation of State Pinanced School Integration in Metropolitan Milwankee" (Wisconsin Policy Research Institute: June 1989), p. 17.

Milwaukee Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1989-90 and 1990-91 (April 1991), pp. 59-60.

^{21 &}quot;Officials Deny Racial Problems in Falls Schools," Waukesha Preeman, May 22, 1990, p. A-3.

²² Milwaukec Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1989-90 and 1990-91, pp. 50-60.

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ Ibid., pp. 59-60.

^{25 &}quot;Officials Deny Racial Problems in Falls Schools," Wankesha Freeman, May 22, 1990, p. A-1.

²⁶ Milwaukee Public Schools, Chapter 220 Report for 1990-91, p. 60.

those problems. Ms. Whidbee admitted that many suburban schools do not have in place a process for resolving complaints. Although this is a problem, she believes attempts are made by districts to resolve them in a fair and equitable manner.

Ms. Whidbee said that Chapter 220 perents are very concerned about quality of education. These concerns have focused on curriculum offerings and different learning styles that their children might need. Some suburban districts have never faced such issues. The conflicts she is most often called upon to resolve are behavior and discipline problems. These problems are many times characterized by statements such as: "Those children cannot learn. Those children are not interested in education. Those children are not sitting still. What is wrong with those children?"

A problem affecting the level of parental involvement is black parents' inadequacy in articulating the educational needs of their children. One of the complaints she receives most often from black parents is the inability of some teachers to work with diverse learning styles and behaviors. In other cases, she said, some of the black students fail to produce because they do not want to exceed the expectations of their peers because it is not "cool" to be intelligent. 32

According to Ms. Whidbee, Chapter 220 students experience a significant degree of isolation because they attend schools where, in most cases, they do not establish any social bonds, unlike children who attend school in their own neighborhood. Ms. Whidbee describes a student's reaction to this prob-

lem: "You know, I want to go to this school, I like what the school has to offer, but I don't have any friends." "4"

Ms. Whichee stated that some steps are being taken by suburban schools to assist districts toward enhancing interracial and cultural experiences. Some of the districts are employing a school-community liaison person to work with MPS transfer students and parents.35 School districts like Shorewood, West Allis, and Menomonee Falls have hired human relation specialists or parent/community liaison persons to assist and resolve student problems associated with desegregation.36 Some of the districts have also established a Host Family Program, which provides an opportunity for interaction between city and suburban families. A host family serves as a surrogate parent for a MPS transfer student whose parents cannot attend a school meeting or activity. Other levels of interaction provided through this program are night-overs by students with the host family during inclement weather.

Susan Phillips, executive director of the Greater Milwaukee Education Trust and a member of the Shorewood School Board, indicated that in 1984 a number of case studies done in conjunction with the 1985 commission study revealed significant racial tensions in some school districts. She reported that Shorewood hired a full-time human relations specialist who has made the human aspect of racial and cultural integration easier. But most important, she said, Shorewood's affirmative human relations efforts have been enhanced by a strong cadre of parents who are committed to integration.

²⁷ Transcript, vol. 1, pp. 37-38.

²⁸ Ibid., pp. 38-39.

²⁹ Ibid., p. 40.

³⁰ Ibid., p. 41.

³¹ Ibid., pp. 41-43.

³² Ihid., p. 44.

³³ Ibid., p. 45.

³⁴ Ibid., p. 45.

³⁵ Ibid., p. 42.

³⁶ Ibid., p. 353; Transcript, vol. II, p. 17.

³⁷ Transcript, vol. II, p. 45.

³⁸ Ibid., p. 8.

^{39 [}bid., p. 17.

⁴⁰ Ibid.

David Hase, president of the Mequon-Thiensville School Board, and Susan Phillips both emphasized the need for more minority biring in the suburban schools. Although Mr. Hase believes the Metropolitan Employment Recruitment Office of the CEO and the suburban districts have been very successful in their hiring efforts, Ms. Phillips suggested that ongoing and more creative efforts are needed in this area.

Superintendents of Whitnall and Whitefish Bay suburban school districts were asked to provide the Advisory Committee information as to how well Chapter 220 is working in their districts, William Hittman of Whitnall and Leroy Rieck of Whitefish Bay said that the Chapter 220 program is progressing well in their respective school districts. During the 1989-90 school year, Whitnali had 280 Chapter 220 transfer students and 60 resident students who were enrolled in MPS specialty schools. Most city transfer students enrolled in Whitnall are Asian. Mr. Hittman stated that Whitnall's high Asian enrollment is due in part to the individualized transportation provided with small vans and station waeons that Asian children prefer over the county bus system. 45 Whitefish Bay had 330 Chapter 220 transfer students and 22 resident students attending MPS specialty schools.

From the information provided by Mr. Hittman, interracial and cultural relations among students, parents, and staff at Whitnall seem to be very good. Although there was no information provided to indicate that the district had established a formal or organized human relations program, good interracial contacts appear to have been established informally. To describe the district's interracial and cultural relations, two black students, Paul Johnson and Donte Fitzgerald of Whitnall, spoke to the Advisory Committee about their school experiences.

Both students are junious who are doing well academically and participate fully in extracurricular activities. Paul Johnson stated:

My mother and I chose Whitnall Middle School because it would be in my best interest, and it would provide me a good education for my future schooling. Another reason I chose Whiteall is that the schools in my neighborhood would not give me a good education, plus they weren't all that safe to go to. My years of attending Whitnell Middle, School were good, so I had the choice of going to the high achool. I chose to go to the high school. . . . Pve made numerous friends that live in the area, which I'm very close to. And if I would recommend a school in the Milwaukee area to go to, I would tell them to go to Whitnail. Because you can meet new people and receive a good education that will be good for college purposes. Even if you go into the lower tracks that they have at Whitnall, they still urge you to take 4 years of math, 4 years of English, 3 years of history, and 4 years of foreign language.

Donte Fitzgerald stated:

I only have good things to say about this school district. I've experienced no racism or discrimination of any kind. As far as education is concerned, I think Whitnell is one of the top schools in the Milwaukee area. They have numerous courses which I feel will be able to prepare me for my college career. The transfer students were expected to do the same work as the resident students. And we also have the same opportunities to stay after school and get extra help. As far as intercultural relationships go, I guess I'd be a good example of this because our prom was last Saturday and I attended the dance with a white girl. . . In my case, I feel completely at home when I'm in the district any time of the day and night. And to sum it all up, I guess, the only thing I regret about attending Whitnall is that I didn't come earlier.

⁴¹ Transcript, vol. I., pp. 201-02; vol. II, p. 10,

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ Treascript, vol. I, pp. 163, 179.

⁴⁴ Ibid., pp. 160, 184, 193.

⁴⁵ Ibid., p. 194.

⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 157.

⁴⁷ Ibid., p. 179.

⁴⁸ Ibid., pp. 179-80.

⁴⁹ Ibić., pp. 183-183.

⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 181.

Dr. Ricck of Whitefish Bay stated that the district is fully committed to the Chapter 220 program and ensuring that it is successfully implemented. In that effort, during the 1988-89 school year the district did a year-long study of the Chapter 220 program at the high school. Surveys were administered to parents, current students, former students, teachers, and community leaders. In addition, discussion groups were held with transfer parents and students. Major findings which emerged from the study included the following:

- Transportation is a source of frustration for parents. Providing buses for extracurricular activities is an expressed need.
- Although parents feel that Whitelish Bay High School provided a challenging course of study, they are not sure that their children are able to receive maximum benefits from it.
- Even though parents indicated that their children feel accepted by Whitefish Bay High School, racial climate still emerged as the largest concern by parents.
- Opportunities for Chapter 220 parents to become involved with the school should be increased.
- Students identified more things that they liked about Whitelish Bay High School than they disliked.
- 6. In general, transfer students feel accepted at Whitefish Bay High School. They tend to identify with all students and feel little pressure to associate with a particular group.
- Over half the respondents indicated that they have experienced negative racial com-

ments or actions from resident students, teachers, or staff, or other transfer students.

8. Students have concerns about minority issues being represented in textbooks and presented in classes. 32

Of the responses, transportation was cited as the most negative part of the Chapter 220 program, followed by racial environment and social interactions.

In an effort to increase the involvement of parents of transfer students in the life of the school district, the district selected two parents during the 1989-90 school year to serve as transfer parent facilitator. During the same school year, a seven-member team from the school district attended a year-long course at Marquette University on improving the Chapter 220 program. A team project was completed in April 1990. Recommendations made by the team included:

- The creation and implementation of an ongoing K-12 committee on multicultural education.
- The definition and dissemination of descriptors stating the district's intent and plan of action to meaningfully address equity and excellence issues for all students.
- The coordination of existing programs in the district to collectively address equity and excellence issues, and
- 4. The adoption of a policy on human dignity. 55

Frieda Curry, president and founder of Parents Concerned About Chapter 220, stated that the organization was formed to represent the educational interests of MPS transfer students. The group has less than 100 members. Ms. Curry said that she is disap-

⁵¹ Ibid., p. 163.

⁵² Ibid., pp. 159-60.

⁵³ Ibid., p. 160.

⁵⁴ Ibid., pp. 160-61.

⁵⁵ Ibid., pp. 161-162.

⁵⁶ Ibid., p. 350.

pointed in the low number of members when there are well over 5,000 city transfer students.

Ms. Curry stated that the number one concern of parents is quality education. Some parents, however, have become disillusioned with the Chapter 220 program because peer isolation and teacher insensitivity have caused their children to have low self-es-

teem. ⁵⁹ She alleged that one of the major problems for Chapter 220 students is the discipline practices of some schools. ⁶⁰

Ms. Curry recommended that each suburban school district establish a parent-community liaison person to assist in providing human relations services.

⁵⁷ Ibid., pp. 355-56

⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 357,

⁵⁹ Poid., pp. 351, 357.

⁶⁰ Ibid., p. 351.

⁶¹ Ibid.

5. Fifteen Years Later—Other Strategies Used to Improve Education

In reaction to dismal educational outcomes, MPS and others in the broader community continue to explore ways to improve the educational performance of minorities. School reform and restructuring have been initiated through various efforts, such as school-based management, which was started 3 years ago, and a school attendance plan developed in 1990 to bring about equity and efficiency in student assignments.

Implementation of school-based management, in which decisionmaking is concentrated in the individual schools rather than in the central office, has been painfully slow.2 The Long-Range Equity Plan that was developed to address inequities in the student assignment process and maintain the benefits of the past 12 years of descuregation in Milwaukee was not implemented due to opposition primarily from white parents.' The plan tried not only to streamline and simplify assignment of students, but to reduce busing, give parents more choice in school selection, increase the number of students attending neighborhood schools, and desegregate the 16 city schools with black enrollments of 95 percent or higher." Most recently, the Metropolitan Milwaukee Association of Commerce is paying a consultant to assist the district in its school reform.

Now MPS has placed itself in the forefront of school reform in the area of school choice and the establishment of black male academies. The following provides a brief overview of MPS efforts in each of these areas.

School Choice

School choice has been one of the most talked about educational reforms since the Brown decision. Proponents of choice, who now include liberals as well as conservatives, say it is an effective way to compel school improvement through competitive alternatives. John Chubb, senior fellow at the Brookings Institution, and Terry Moe, a political scientist at Stanford University, coanthored Politics, Markets and America's Schools, in which they espoused dismantling the current public school system and replacing it with a "choice" system in which schools would compete for students, as well as be accountable for their school performance. Critics of choice call it a political gimmick to divert attention from the need to put more money into public schools, especially those serving the poor." The most vocal opposition to the choice concept has come from educators, who argue that giving parents the chance to move their children from school to school will make educational planning difficult, leave some schools with the most difficult students to educate, and threaten the viability of schools because of lost enrollments. At least a dozen States and scores of local school districts now allow parents to choose which public school their children

Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Committee on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990, Transcript, vol. II, p. 12 (hereafter cited as Transcript); Charles V. Willie, Michael J. Alves, and David J. Hartman, "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan for Milwauket Public Schools" (Pebruary 1990), p. 1 (hereafter cited as "Long-Range Educational Equity Plan").

² Transcript, vol. II, p. 12.

³ Transcript, vol. 1, p. 108; "School Attendance Plan Evokes Distract," Milemukee Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1; "Action on School Plan Too Rushed Parents Say," Milmutkee Journal, Yeb. 28, 1990, p. A-1.

^{4 &}quot;School Attendence Plan Evokes Distrutt," Milwauke: Journal, Mar. 1, 1990, p. B-1.

^{5 &}quot;Loyalty of Advisor Questioned," Milwauker Journal, Mar. 9, 1992, p. B-1.

^{6 &}quot;Minorities Overwhelmingly Favor Public School Choice," Washington Times, Aug. 24, 1990, p. A-2.

^{7 &}quot;Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Taxes, June 4, 1989, p. A-1.

⁴ Ibid.

will attend, thus abandoning the practice of assigning students to schools on the basis of where they live.

In Wisconsin, through the legislative efforts of State Representative Polly Williams, the State enacted the first law in the Nation that allows low-income children to attend private, nonsectarian schools. President George Bush has called the Williams Choice Plan "the most interesting experiment in education reform" and at one time it was the centerpiece of his plan to become the "education president,"10 Williams' plan is unique because it is the first to channel public funds directly to private schools and the first specifically geared toward lowincome inner-city children.11 The Choice Plan, which was legally challenged by the teachers' unions, the school board, and the State superintendent of education—and bitterly opposed by the Milwaukee chapter of the NAACP-will allow parents of about 1,000 low-income students in Milwaukee to send their children to private schools. The State will pay through a voucher system up to \$1,500 in State education money that previously went to the city's pub-lic school system. ¹² In September 1990 an initial 400 students opted to attend private schools through this parental choice program. 13 According to Governor Tommy Thompson, "the plan allows for choice and competition that will make both the public and private schools much stronger." But Robert Peterkin, the former superintendent of MPs, said the law threatens public education by leaving the city

schools with the hardest-to-educate students and fewer resources.¹⁵

Dr. Howard Fuller, the recently appointed superintendent, proposed to the school board a school reform plan that included increasing parent involvement in school choice decisions within the district. However, this proposal met with some opposition and has been held in abeyance.

In March 1992 the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld the State's 1990 school choice law, which had been challenged by a variety of public school groups. The court, in reversing a State appeals court decision, ruled that the law does not violate the doctrine of spending State money for the public good, in part because the private schools benefiting from the vouchers are supervised well enough "to attain the public purpose of improving educational quality." The legal battle over the law will be closely watched by teacher's unions and conservative groups, who view it as a possible precursor to a Federal judicial battle over the constitutionality of such "voucher" programs.

What are the implications of school choice for desegregation? Opponents equate choice with elitism or discrimination. They are concerned that some parents may abuse their right to select a school as a way of avoiding racial integration. Some proponents of choice say that it may in fact enhance racial integration, as many desegregation plans used by school districts were designed around the concept of school choice to promote voluntary racial desegregation. MPS's specialty schools, although enhancing deseg-

⁹ Ibid.

^{10 &}quot;The Polly Williams Backlash," Wall Street Journal, June 14, 1990, p. A-14; "Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Times Issue 4, 1989, p. A-1.

 [&]quot;Wisconsin Tries Voucher Plan," Chicago Tribune, Apr. 1, 1990, B-3.

^{12 &}quot;School Choice for Minorities Gaining Support," Weshington Times, Oct. 25, 1990, p. A-3; "Toe Polly Williams Backlash," Wall Street Journal, June 14, 1990, p. A-14.

^{13 &}quot;School Choice for Minorities Gaining Support," Washington Times, Oct. 26, 1990, p. A.3.

^{14 &}quot;Milwaukee Payents Get More Choice in Schools," New York Times, Mar. 28, 1990, p. C-1.

¹⁵ Ibid.

^{16 &}quot;Fuller Offers Do-or-Die Way to Fix Schools," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 6, 1991, p. B-1.

¹⁷ Davis v. Grover, 480 N.W.2d, 460 (Wis. 1992).

¹⁸ Mat 463.

^{19 &}quot;School-Choice Law in Wisconsin Upheld by State High Court," Wall Street Journal, Mar. 6, 1992, p. A-10.

^{20 &}quot;About Education: The Right to Choose a School, A Piller of Democracy or an Invitation to Elitism?" New York Times, Mar. 29, 1989, p. A-2.

^{21 &}quot;Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Tierre, June 4, 1989, p. A-L

regation to some degree, have also created inequities by race and socioeconomic status for participation in these programs. Although choice extends options to the poor that the wealthy already have, it may also polarize educational systems into strong and weak schools and foster a new form of segregation by social class and previous success in school.

One of the considerations that this issue raises is: What is to be done about the children left behind, who probably need good schools the most but, because their parents are absent, uninformed, or indifferent, are left in the weak schools?²⁴ Donald Moore, executive director of a Chicago research organization, Designs for Change, studied magnet schools in Boston, Chicago, New York, and Philadelphia. A New York Times article quoting him stated:

"Magnet schools attract the best teachers and often get additional funds," he said, "and middle-class families of all races figure out which schools are the best and end up getting their kids in those schools. This leaves the vast majority of families out in the cold.".... While the theory holds that magnet schools will inspire all schools to become better, the improvements do not help low-schieving students. "The reality is that principals will create new programs for high-achieving students in order to keep them from going elsewhere." he said, "but they aren't interested in keeping the sest."

Mr. Moore acknowledged that a school choice plan can be a moderately effective incentive for schools to improve but only if it is tied into an overall strategy for improving all schools. In recognizing the possible adverse effect school choice may have upon integration, some States (such as Minnesota, Iowa, Arkansas, Nebraska, Ohio, Utah, and Idaho) offer choice plans that take race into account.

Dr. John Witte, of the University of Wisconsin-Madison, was appointed by the State department of public instruction to evaluate MPS's parental choice program. A preliminary report on the program was completed in November 1991. The report focused on school selection, program dynamics, parental involvement, a preliminary analysis of educational outcomes, and recommendations. The report is very preliminary because of the short time the program had been in operation, uncertainties surrounding continuance of the program because of legal challenges, and the small number of students participating (34i). The educational outcomes reported after the first year were mixed. Achievement test scores did not register dramatic gains, and the participating students remained approximately equal to low-income students in MPS. Student attendance, parental attitudes toward choice schools, and parental involvement were all positive. Attendance was slightly higher than in the average elementary school in MPS, and parental evaluations of the new schools were much more positive than of the former schools. The basic recommendation made was to continue the program for at least several more years so it could be assessed more fully.

Black Male Schools

In recent years, some urban districts with large black populations have begun to establish separate schools or classes aimed exclusively at black male students. Milwaukee, Chicago, Detroit, and Baitimore were among the jurisdictions moving ahead with plans to put black males in an Afrocentric curriculum as a way of steering them from the self-destructive path that has led many to illiteracy, drugs, prison, and early death. The establishment of black male academies has attracted national attention and

^{22 &}quot;Long-Range Educational Equity Plan," p. vi; Mitchell Report, p. 3.

^{23 &}quot;Wave of Fenure: A Choice of Schools," New York Times, June 4, 1989, p. A-1.

^{24 &}quot;Skimming the Cream Off Schools," New York Times, July 25, 1991, p. A-2.

^{25 &}quot;Wave of Future: A Choice of Schools," New York Tieses, June 4, 1989, p. A-1.

²⁶ Shid.

^{27 &}quot;States That Allow A Choice of Schools," New York Times, Dec. 19, 1990, p. A-3.

²⁸ John F. Witte, "The First Year Report, Milwaukee Parental Choice Program" (prepared for the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, November 1991).

²⁹ Poid., p. iv, pp. 1-2.

^{30 &}quot;School Geared to Black Boya Attract Girls," Washington Times, Sept. 3, 1991, p. A-3; "Black School Plan Too Risky," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 14, 1987, p. B-1.

is criticized as an illegal throwback to the days of segregated schools. Critics also complain that students will emerge from school ill-equipped to survive in the mainstream. 31

Dr. Kenneth Clark, whose pioneering research into the deleterious effects of segregation on black children helped sway Supreme Court opinion in the Brown decision, says projects like the one established for MPS promote the resegregation of American schools, and countermand the Supreme Court decision in Brown that struck down separate but equal schools. He goes on to say:

I read about these things and I can't believe that we're actually regressing like this. . . This is contrary to everything that we were lighting against and everything that the research says about the benefits of learning black and white, male and female together. Even military schools today are coeducational. So why are we talking about segregating and stigmatizing black males?

A lawsuit filed by the American Civil Liberties Union and the National Organization for Women's Legal Defense and Education Fund forced Detroit to allow girls to enroll in its special "academies" for black males. ³³ However, President Bush declared his support for all-male educational programs for black youths and said he would support efforts to make such curricula legal if the Federal courts found them to be otherwise. ³⁴

This is not the first time that MPS has considered separate schools for blacks. In 1987 some prominent black leaders declared their frustration with desegregation and the bleak academic achievement of black students and proposed making nine already black schools into a separate and autonomous school district.³⁵ This particular effort failed but apparently

still continues to be a viable option to some in the community.

The two new African American immersion academies in MPS were established in September 1991 in response to the deteriorating status of black maies in the schools.36 The basis for this concern was that of the approximately 5,716 black males enrolled in MPS, less than 20 percent had cumulative grade point averages of 2.0 or higher. During 1989-90 black males were 27.6 percent of the student population but 50 percent of the students suspended, and a staggeringly high dropout and low high school graduation rate had some young black males leaving school even at the elementary level. 37 In January 1990 MPS assembled a task force to study district programs affeeting the life chances of its black male population. The task force studied the areas of student achievement, self-esteem, community involvement, school climate, and the family. The task force recommended that schools be established to address the special needs of black males.

The adoption of black male schools was criticized by various groups. The national and local NAACP said that schools that segregate black males are wrong and probably illegal. The Milwaukee Teacher's Education Association came out against the provision that the teaching staff be predominately male and black. The local teachers' union demanded that 75 percent of the teachers at these schools be white, in accordance with the desegregation guidelines that limit the percentage of minority teachers in school buildings. Three of MPS's eight school board members opposed the black male school proposal, contending that isolation of students by race is unconstitutional and educationally unsound.

^{31 &}quot;A Throwback to Segregation," New York Times, Jan. 22, 1991, p. A-1.

³² Charles Whitaker, "Do Black Males Need Special Schools!" Ebooy, March 1991, p. 18.

³³ Ibid.; "Black Immersion Schools: Can Separate Education Succeed?" Milwauker Journal, Nov. 8, 1990, p. A-1.

^{34 &}quot;Bush Books All-Male Academies for Black Youths," Kanns City Star, Sept. 10, 1991, p. A-4.

^{35 &}quot;Black Leaders Want Own School District," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 12, 1987, p. A-1; "Black School District Plan Too Risky," Milwankee Journal, Aug. 14, 1987, p. B-1.

³⁶ African American Male Task Force, Milwaukee Public School, Educating African American Males: A Dream Deferred, May 1990, p. i.

³⁷ Ibid., p. i, p. 2.

³⁸ Ibid., p. ix, p. 5.

^{39 &}quot;Black Immersion Schools: Can Separate Education Succeed?" Milwaukee Journal, Nov. 8, 1990, p. A-1.

^{40 &}quot;School Geared to Black Boys Attracts Clirk," Washington Times, Sept. 3, 1991, p. A-3.

MPS officials stated that they had always planned to open these schools to all students to comply with antidiscrimination laws, but the curriculum would revolve around African American heritage and the educational, social, and emotional needs of black males. To a September 26, 1990, the school board voted 5-3 to open two African American immersion academies during the 1991-92 school year for up to 1,300 students at the elementary and middle school level.

Ken Holt, a Milwaukee principal and cochair of the African American male task force, stated that desegregation had not helped black students in MPS, especially in academic areas, nor had it produced the benefits expected from integration. 4 Therefore, he contends that there is a need to explore different and more supportive educational systems for black males because the present system has destroyed them.

An evaluation committee has been established to monitor and assess the implementation of the program and its progress. Dr. Diane Pollard, of the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, who is chair of the evaluation team, stated that the focus of the evaluation will be program implementation and educational outcomes from qualitative and quantitative bases. Program implementation will be the first component evaluated. Feedback on how well the program operated will be provided to the district by the end of the 1991-92 school year.

^{41 &}quot;All-Black School Plan Gets Praise," Washington Times, Aug. 23, 1991, p. A.1.

⁴² Transcript, vol. L. p. 219; "School Geared to Black Boys Attracts Girls," Washington Times, Sept. 3, 1991, p. A-3.

^{43 &}quot;Black Immersion Schools: Can Separate Education Succeed?" Milwaukee Journal, Nov. 8, 1990, p. A-1.

⁴⁴ Transcript, vol. 1, pp. 226-27.

⁴⁵ Charles Whiteker, "Do Black Males Need Special Schools?" Efforcy, March 1991, p. 22.

⁴⁶ African American Male Task Force, Mijwankee Public Schools, Educating African American Males: A Decam Deferred, May 1990, p. 31.

⁴⁷ Diane Pollard, associate professor, Department of Educational Psychology, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, telephone interview, Oct. 22, 1991.

6. Implications of Housing Patterns Upon School Integration

Housing segregation is one of the factors continually referred to as causing or reinforcing separation of blacks and whites. Like most urban centers, Milwaukee is separated into distinct groups living increasingly in isolation from each other. There is a growing separation between the poor and the affluent, between the well educated and the poorly educated, and between racial and ethnic groups. The racial, economic, and social stratification of living arrangements in Milwaukee are similarly mirrored in the schools. Although this problem is not new or unknown, the Wisconsin Advisory Committee wishes to document briefly the progress made in this area as well as problems that continue to exist.

A study, "Hypersegregation in U.S. Metropolitan Areas: Black and Hispanic Segregation Along Five Dimensions," conducted in 1989 by Dr. Douglas Massey at the University of Chicago, identified Milwaukee as one of nine cities that are "hypersegregated," meaning that the metropolitan area had an extreme level of residential segregation. Similarly, in the schools, in 1991 Wisconsin was ranked as the seventh most segregated State for black students by the National School Boards Association. Three-quarters (75.3 percent) of black students were enrolled in segregated educational settings. Because most of the State's black population is in Milwaukee, the findings inferred that schools in Milwaukee are just as segregated or more.

The relationship between school desegregation and housing segregation is complex and irrevocably tied. Gary Orfield in *The Closing Door* concluded:

there are powerful relationships between residential segregation and the quality of education, the quality of housing. the availability of jobs, and income level. . . . Residential sogregation remains a fundamental underlying feature of urban racial inequality in this period after the abolition of the old system of de jure racial discrimination. Although it is not illegal for the government to treat blacks and whites differently, extremely different levels of education are routinely provided to predominantly black and white communities and maintained by residential separation. It is particularly easy to discriminate when black and white areas are separated by municipal and school district boundaries. A wide variety of public and private institutions treat these black and white communities differently, producing consequences that may be as severe as those produced by de jure segregation. . . Successful social policy will have to have a racial as well as an economic dimension recognizing the impact of the highly segregated metropolitan society. Separate urban societies remain profoundly unequal and a policy seeking greater equality must directly attack the colorline and its continuing consequences.

Milwaukee and the metropolitan region have always had a highly segregated housing pattern, and it remains so today. In 1984 when MPS sued the State and 24 suburban school districts, it claimed that the defendants' policies and practices encouraged racial segregation in Milwaukee housing and schools, causing inequality of educational opportunity in the metropolitan area. Evidence was presented by legal experts and social scientists showing the actions taken by the housing industry and public agencies to foster segregated housing through zoning ordinances, racially restrictive covenants, and segregated subsidized housing projects. In 1987, when a settlement agree-

^{1 &}quot;Hyperagregation in U.S. Metropolitan Areas: Black and Hispanic Segregation Along Five Dimensions," Demography, 1989.

² National School Boards Association, "Status of School Desegregation: The Next Generation," Jan. 1991; "The Nation's Schools Learns A 4th R: Resegregation," New York Times, Jan. 19, 1992.

³ Thid.

⁴ Gary Orfield and Carole Ashkiman. The Closing Door, Communitive Policy and Black Opportunity (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991), p. 12.

⁵ Information provided to the Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights at its community forum on May 22-23, 1990. Transcript, vol. 3. p. 18 (bereafter cited as Transcript); "Experts Credibility Attacked in School Trial," Milwaukee Journal, May 5, 1987, p. B-1.

^{6 &}quot;Agencies Backed Housing Segregation, Export Says," Milwaukee Journal, Apr. 29, 1987, p. B-2.

ment was reached, among the obligations set forth between the parties were housing initiatives to promote residential integration in the city and the suburbs.⁷

In response to this commitment through the funding of the Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development Authority (WHEDA), the Metropolitan Milwankee Fair Housing Council established the Center for Integrated Living (CIL) in 1989, CIL's purpose is to promote and expand housing choices for homeseckers of all races throughout the fourcounty area." In this effort, CIL assisted persons interested in moving to an area where their race was underrepresented." Because CIL was formed as an outgrowth of the school desegregation settlement, recruitment of Chapter 220 families was a priority. CIL is the only housing program in Milwaukee that primarily promotes pro-integration moves.10 In Sentember 1991, however, program funding for CIL expired. William Tisdale, the executive director, indicated that program services have been suspended until additional funds are received. With the suspension of funds, the Fair Housing Council is also unable to file lawsuits for housing discrimination. A proposal was submitted to WHDEA, which was expected to make a decision shortly on funding. Mr. Tisdale also stated that along with WHDEA funds, additional financing from other sources will be needed to operate the program effectively.

The initiatives insplemented by the Fair Housing Council over the past 3 years were:

Hossing, Counseling and Recruitment. Recruit and provide counseling services to persons interested in making pro-integration moves. Mortgage Ioan Amistance Program. Provide loans that carry interest rates, point requirements and down payments which are more advantageous than is available in the traditional market.

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program. Provide a 15 percent tax credit incentive to developers to build bousing in areas promoting racial integration.

Tenant Service Project. Establish a special tenant services pilot project for residents located in targeted areas within the city to encourage students to stay in school. The project will be a public-private partnership involving project owners, parents and private sector volunteers.

Since the program's inception in September 1989. through August 1991, 732 clients have participated in the CIL program. CIL's clients have been 98 percent minority and 2 percent nonminority. Females head 62 percent of CIL client households. The majority, 72 percent, does not have a rent subsidy; only 28 percent have used vouchers, certificates, or subsidized housing. Of the minority households, 8 percent have used the CIL services as homebuyers, 92 percent as renters. Of the nonminority households, 22 percent are homebuyers and 78 percent are renters. Among households making pro-integrative moves, 80 percent located within the city and 20 percent outside the city. Seventy percent of these households were black, 11 percent Hispanic, 11 percent Aslan, 4 percent Native American, and 4 percent nonminority.

Sixty percent of all minority households that moved within the Milwaukee metropolitan area after

⁷ Scitlement Agreement, 84-C-877, U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Wisconsin, Scot. 15, 1917, app. D.

⁸ Fact Shocts on Center for Integrated Living provided by Milwauker Fair Housing Council, June 1991, p. 1.

o Thid

¹⁰ Richard Imagabaugh, executive director, Wisconsin Housing and Bounomic Development Authority, telephone interview, Nov. 1, 1991.

¹¹ William Tisdale, executive director, Milwauker Fair Housing Council, telephone interview, Mar. 12, 1992.

¹² Settlement Agreement, app. D.

¹³ Metropolitan Milwauker Fair Housing Council, Inc., Annual Report, November 1991, p. 5.

receiving assistance from the CIL program located housing outside minority areas (defined as 85 percent or more minority), even though 67 percent of all minority households resided in minority areas when they entered the program. This statistic includes those who moved to nonminority neighborhoods (areas 85 percent or more nonminority) as well as stably integrated areas (any areas between 16 and 84 percent minority-nonminority mix).

Households that had children participating in the Chapter 220 interdistrict program were assisted by the CIL program in moving to the suburbs within the four-county metropolitan area. Eleven children in these households no longer participate in the Chapter 220 program, as they now attend their suburban district school. By assisting these 11 children in making nontraditional moves, the CIL program has saved the State of Wisconsin a total of \$356,827, or over \$30,000 per child. The saving in State aid to the suburban districts is \$63,611.

Through the tax credit program, CIL allocated approximately \$1 million in Federal low-income housing credits to investors and developers. This money was allocated to encourage the development of racially and economically integrated housing opportunities throughout the metropolitan area. This effort has resulted in construction of five apartment communities in the south side of the city of Milwaukee, the city of South Milwaukee, Saukville, and West Bend. In 1990, 212 units were constructed, with 166 of these units in suburban communities. CIL received a total of over \$2 million in proposals to build pro-integrated housing. However, officials of

the Milwaukee Fair Housing Council state that State and Federal rules have hampered their efforts. They contend that the criteria used by government agencies to allocate tax credits unfairly favor housing projects in the county.

Although CIL's efforts appear to have had only a limited influence on housing integration, without the program, the gains that have been made since 1989 would not have been possible. The city of Milwankee, with a population of 628,088, was 30.5 percent black in 1990, up from 23.1 percent in 1980. The four-county suburban area surrounding the city (Milwankee, Ozaukee, Washington, and Wankesha Counties), with a population of 1,432,149, was 13.8 percent black in 1990. MPS had a 1990-91 enrollment of 99,233 students, 57.1 percent black, in comparison to 55.2 percent the preceding school year.

Some say CIL's efforts have been hampered by a slow beginning and staff changes. But this may be due to the lackluster government and private support in implementing and sustaining such an innovative housing program. Moreover, the program needs an opportunity to succeed under more realistic goals. Funding for 3 years is not sufficient time to overcome institutionalized housing segregation. In spite of the limited effect of housing initiatives upon school desegregation, housing is the principal alternative offered by school officials and community leaders for alleviating the problems associated with school desegregation. For some, there is limited optimism that this will ever occur. This is evident by rejection in 1990 by most of the 25 suburbs of a voluntary effort to locate low- and moderate-income

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ Ibid., pp. 5-6.

¹⁶ Ibid., p. 6.

¹⁷ Ibid.

LE Ibid.

^{19 &}quot;Government Rules Hamper Draegregation, Officials Say," Milnoukeo Journal, May 25, 1990, p. B-3.

²⁰ Cenaus of Population and Housing, 1990; Statistical Abstract of the United States, 1982-83 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1934), pp. 18, 23.

²¹ Data provided by the Southeastern Regional Planning Countil of Wisconsin, Nov. 4, 1991.

²² Data provided by Gary Peterann, coordinator of research, Milwaukee Public Schools, Apr. 13, 1992; Milwaukee Public Schools State Aid Report, Sept. 15, 1989, p. 1.

²³ Transcript, vol. I, p. 152.

²⁴ Ibid., vol. I, pp. 17, 30, 77-85, 105, 123, 150-51, 204, 312; vol. If, pp. 5, 7, 9.

public housing in their communities. Shorewood school district and Whitelish Bay are the only municipalities that indicated a willingness to participate. Also in 1990 the Milwaukee County Board's

Housing and Community Development Committee voted to delay action on enacting a housing discrimination ordinance.²⁶

²⁵ Transcript, vol. I, pp. 152-53, 304-05; "Officials Byc Strategies to Desegregate Suburbs," The Milwaukes Continuedty Journal, May 2, 1990, p. 1; "Housing Lawselt Considered," Milwaukes Journal, May 31, 1991, p. A-1.

^{26 &}quot;County Back Paddles on Housing Bias Law," The Milwaukee Community Journal, June 13, 1990, p. 1; "Housing Ordinance Hits Snag," Milwaukee Journal, June 7, 1990, p. B-3.

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

Within the last 15 years, Milwaukee has made significant progress towards abolishing segregation of the races in the public schools through both the intradistrict and interdistrict desegregation programs, but clearly these efforts must continue as desegregation has not been fully accomplished, nor the results hoped for fulfilled. Some believed that desegregation would improve education for blacks, provide equal educational resources and services, moderate racial views, and prepare students for living in a phralistic society. Instead, grades and test scores of black students have declined, disciplinary actions and dropout rates have increased, and racial attitudes have polarized.

Although attempts at school desegregation have not worked according to the designs of the Brown decision, other factors such as poverty, joblessness, and poor housing have complicated what is a relatively straightforward instrument of social justice for black school children. It is important to note the powerful contemporary barriers that deny the results anticipated. Educational outcomes for black students would not be in such decline had economic and housing opportunities been on the upswing during the period desegregation was attempted. Had desegregation been implemented while Milwaukec's black community was participating in an expanding citywide economic boom, then the outcomes might have been different Racial barriers operating through the housing market and through unequal education attached to residential locations have also not been significantly challenged.

There are some who recognize the value of quality integrated education but who despair of achieving it because of the practical difficulties involved. They examine the school integration problem and conclude that it cannot be accomplished knowing that strenuous efforts within and outside the education system are required to transform schools into truly integrated ones. As measured by objective criteria such as achievement scores, numerical racial balance

among students, and human relations, quality integrated education certainly has not been reached in Milwaukee, and some would suggest it has regressed.

However, an argument can be made that, even though academic achievement levels have not closed between whites and blacks, we cannot assume that there is a causal relationship between desegregation and low achievement levels. At the same time, one might conclude that in the absence of the desegregation efforts, these gaps would have been even larger. That many parents, leaders, and administrators believe desegregation has not worked, or that "quality education" is mutually exclusive of desegregation, does not necessarily make it so.

The demographic and sociological situation of race relations points dramatically to the conclusion that Milwankee, if not already, will regress back to an earlier stage in civil rights if school desegregation efforts are not continued and other racial barriers related to housing and job opportunities are not challeneed.

The national expectations may have been overly optimistic in thinking that desegregation could provide the results hoped for in a short time frame in communities plagued by institutional racism. There is ample evidence to demonstrate, however, that, in those systems where a conscientious and intelligent attempt was made within and outside the system to make the process work, significant results have been achieved.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are submitted under the provisions of section 703.2(e) of the Commission's regulations, empowering the Advisory Committee to initiate and forward advice and recommendations to the Commission upon matters that the State Committee has studied.

Recommendation 1

The Advisory Committee strongly orges the Milwau-

⁴⁵ C.F.R. \$703.2(c) (1991).

kee community and the surrounding suburbs to continue their efforts to desegregate the schools through the intradistrict and interdistrict desegregation programs. Although the interdistrict voluntary student transfer program (Chapter 220) expires in July 1993, this program should be continued to ensure sustained racial and cultural integration in the Milwaukee metropolitan area. This effort should include monitoring and periodic evaluations of progress made by both programs.

Recommendation 2

Leadership and community participation is needed to regain support for integration efforts in the schools. Leadership is needed from local and State school officials, local governments, and business and civic groups. In such a situation, there is a need for community organizations such as the Greater Milwaukee Education Trust and the Coordinating Council of the Compact for Educational Opportunity to provide support to the formal school structure and coordinate voluntary community efforts in support of desegregation.

Recommendation 3

The Milwaukee community should strengthen and expand programs that contribute to housing integration. The housing initiatives established under the settlement agreement should be adequately funded and continued through the Milwaukee Fair Housing Council and become a vital part of the strategy to enhance metropolitan residential desegregation and thereby maximize school integration.

Recommendation 4

There is solid evidence showing the long-term benefits of attending desegregated schools, such as success in college and job opportunities, but such effects for Milwaukee students have not been sufficiently studied. Therefore, an extensive study of the intradistrict and interdistrict desegregation programs should be done to assess the educational effects of desegregation and to locate ways in which policymakers can intervene to make desegregation work more effectively. This should also include a longitudinal study to determine the long-term effects on minority and nonminority students educated in integrated settings versus those who are not.

Appendix A

Public Schools in Metropolitan Milmaukee*

<u>School District</u> Brookfield/Elabrook Grawn Deer Coderburg Cudahy Erin (No. 2) fox Point (No. 2) Franklin Germantour Glendele/Micolet Unified H.S. Glendals-River Hills Grafton Greendele Greenfield Hamilton Wartford Nartford (No. 1) Nersford United H.S. Hartland/Arrowhead Hart(and/Lakeside (No. 3) Kewaskus Lisbon (No. 2) Memomonee Falls Meason-Thieneville Herton (No. 4) Herton (No. 7) Herton (No. 9) HIL WALKEE Ник моглеро-Huskego-Horney New Berlin Nerris Northern Ozeukee Out Creek-Franklin Оселоженов Pensukee Port Washington Richfield (No. 1) Michfield (No. 11) St. Francis Shorewood Slinger South Hiluaukee Val es-Dousénen (Kettle Morgine) Vjukesha Vermetoss West Aills-West Milwarket West Bend Unitatish Bay **U**hitmall

1990 Regident Fogulation Data for Metropolitan Counties in Milwaukes**				
	Blank	¥	Total	
Ni Lucukeu	195,470	20.4	959,275	
Vaukesha	1,096	0.4	304,715	
Özeukee	492	0,7	72,531	
Veshington	125	0.1	95,328	
Grand Total	197,183	13,8	1,432,149	

*Metropolitan Milwaukee includes Milwaukee, Ozaukee, Washington & Waukesha Counties.

SOURCE: <u>Wisconsin Public School Directory</u>, 1989-90 Wisconson Department of Public Instruction.

**1990 Census data for 4-area counties comprising metropolitan Milwaukee.

SOURCE: Southeastern Regional Planning Council, Nov. 4, 1991.

Appendix B

Wisconsin Advisory Committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 2300 North Martin Luther King Drive Milwaukee, Wisconsin

IMPACT OF SCHOOL DESEGREGATION UPON QUALITY EDUCATION FOR MINORITY STUDENTS IN THE MILWAUKEE PUBLIC SCHOOLS....15 YEARS LATER

May 22-23, 1990

AGENDA

9:30 a.m.	OPENING REMARKS Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson Wisconsin Advisory Committee Melvin L. Jenkins, Director Central Regional Division, USCCR
9:45 a.m.	HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF SCHOOL DESEGREGATION IN MPSJohn J. Petersburs, Secretary/Business Manager Milwaukee Public Schools
10:10 a.m.	STATEMENTS ON DESECREGATION AND QUALITY EDUCATION FOR MINORITY STUDENTS George Mitchell The Mitchell Company, Inc. Educational Consultant
10:35 a.m.	Dr. John Witte Department of Political Science University of Wisconsin-Madison
11:00 a.m.	Dr. Howard Fuller, Director Milwaukee County Department of Health and Human Services
11:25 a.m.	EDUCATORS PERSPECTIVESC. Richard Nelson, Deputy Superintendent Wisconsin Department of Public Education

11:50 a.m.	Dr. Robert Peterkin, Superintendent Milwaukee Public Schools
12:15 р.ш.	Joyce Mallory Milwaukee School Board
12։35 թ.m.	LUNCH
1:35 p.m.	William Jenkins, President Coordinating Council for Chapter 220
2:00 p.m.	Gerald Vance, Director Compact for Educational Opportunity
2:25 p.m.	Dr. Lercy Rieck, Superintendent Whitefish Bay School District
2:50 p.m.	William R. Hittman, Superintendent Whitmall School District
3:15 p.m.	David Hase, President Mequon-Thiesville School Board
3:40 p.m.	Kenneth Holt, Principal Alexander Bell Middle School Chairperson, African American Male Task Forc
4:05 p.m.	Donald Fielbach, President Milwaukee Teachers Education Association
	BUSINESS PERSPECTIVE
4:35 p.m.	Wesley L. Scott, Consultant Urban Affairs Milwaukee Chamber of Commerce
	POLITICAL PERSPECTIVES
5:00 р.ш.	Annette (Polly) Williams State Legislator
5:25 p.m.	RECESS

POLITICAL PERSPECTIVES (Cont'D) 7:00 p.m. --Carl Mueller Chief of Staff Mayor's Office of Milwaukee COMMUNITY PERSPECTIVES 7:25 p.m. --Felmers Chaney, President National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Milwaukee Branch --Lauri Wynn National Association for the Advencement of Colored People, Milwaukee Branch -- Miguel Berry, President 7:40 p.m. Mexican American Society 8:05 p.m. --Frieda Curry, President Parents Concerned About Chapter 220 8:30 p.m. RECESS WEDNESDAY, MAY 23, 1990 OPENING REMARKS 9:30 a.m. --Dr. James L. Baughman, Chairperson Wisconsin Advisory Committee COMMUNITY PERSPECTIVES (Cont'd) 9:45 a.m. -- Susan Phillips, Executive Director Greater Milwaukee Education Trust 10:10 a.m. --Andrea Whidbee, Ombudsman Compact for Educational Opportunity 10:35 a.m. -- Karen Mietus, President Parent Teachers Association (FTA) 11:00 a.m. -- Chia Theo, Executive Director Hmong/American Friendship Association, Inc. 11:25 a.m. OPEN SESSION 12:00 p.m. ADJOURNMENT